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COMMUNITY ALERT PROGRAMME: MUINTIR NA TíRE

The joint committee met in private session until 9.45 a.m.

Community Alert Programme: Muintir na Tíre

Chairman: The purpose of this part of the meeting is to have an engagement with Muintir 
na Tíre on the community alert system and benefits thereof during the past 30 years.  We are 
joined today by Mr. Niall Garvey, CEO of Muintir na Tíre.  I thank him for being here.  I also 
welcome Mr. Diarmuid Cronin, who is a community alert development officer.

The reason for this meeting is that it is 30 years since community alert was established in 
Carrigtwohill in east Cork.  There was a commemoration recently there which I was privileged 
to attend.  The invitation to the witnesses is a result of those 30 years of work, to take stock and 
to engage with Members of the Oireachtas to see what is needed now and how the Houses can 
help and learn from the experience of Muintir na Tíre and the work that is taking place.  In some 
ways, the current situation mirrors what happened 30 years ago and there are things going on in 
the modern context that need to be dealt with in the same way as they were back then.

Before we begin, I draw the attention of our witnesses to the situation in respect of privilege.  
Please note that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, they are protected by 
absolute privilege in respect of the evidence they give to this committee.  If they are directed 
by the committee to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and continue to so do, they 
are entitled thereafter to only qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are directed 
that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and 
are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they should 
not criticise or make charges against a person or persons or entity by name or in such a way as 
to make him, her or it identifiable.  Members should also be aware of the long-standing ruling 
of the Chair to the effect that they should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a 
person or persons outside the Houses or an official by name or in such a way as to make him or 
her identifiable.

Mr. Garvey has five minutes to bring the salient points to our attention.

Mr. Niall Garvey: I apologise, my colleague, Paddy Byrne is stuck in Web Summit traffic 
but will hopefully join us shortly.  We have given the committee a detailed written submission.  
In view of the time constraints, I will pick a few highlights from it and leave the committee to 
study the detail.

Muintir na Tíre is a national voluntary organisation dedicated to promoting the process of 
community development.  It was founded in 1937 and aims to enhance the capacity of people in 
communities to become involved in local social, economic, cultural and environmental devel-
opment.  For the past 30 years, we have actively promoted the community alert programme in 
partnership with the Garda Síochána.  This programme continues to harness the voluntary input 
of community members to provide a community crime prevention programme in over 1,400 
community alert groups nationwide.  The programme operates with the five principal partners, 
Muintir na Tíre, the Garda Síochána, the Department of Justice and Equality, the Health Service 
Executive and, most importantly, local communities.  The programme is operated by five com-
munity alert development officers, one for each Garda region outside of the Dublin area.  My 
colleague, Mr. Cronin, is the development officer for the south west of the country.  The engage-
ment that we have with all those local groups enables us to identify many issues arising in the 
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area of crime prevention which is relevant to this committee.  The current issues can be sum-
marised under a number of categories - the seniors alert scheme, pendant alarms and changes 
that have been made to that scheme recently; Garda resources; the judicial system; adequate de-
terrents to crime, funding; and victim support.  In our written submission, we have details under 
all of these categories but I will concentrate on the recommendations that we make in section 6.

We suggest the establishment of a special purpose committee to examine rural crime.  This 
could be similar to the Commission for the Economic Development of Rural Areas, CEDRA, 
which had a limited lifetime and budget but which was asked to make specific and practical rec-
ommendations.  This would allow for more public consultation than this committee will have 
time for and could instil a sense of participation in the communities that take part.  

We strongly support the provisions in the Criminal Justice (Burglary of Dwellings) Bill - 
currently going through the Houses - regarding consecutive sentencing and refusal of bail for 
repeat offenders.  We agree that the right to freedom and the presumption of innocence need to 
be weighed against the constitutional protection afforded to a citizen’s dwelling and we feel this 
Bill offers a balanced approach to these issues.

We welcome the recent establishment of the second Special Criminal Court and hope it will 
significantly reduce the time it takes to process cases.  However, it must be adequately resourced 
and must not simply be a reallocation of resources from elsewhere in the Courts Service.  We 
request a review of the free legal aid programme, of its costs and efficiency of delivery.  While 
recognising a right of legal representation, we feel this should be reviewed for repeat offenders.  
Consideration should be given to reducing the representation for legal offenders and possibly 
treating the costs of this representation as a repayable loan.  We also request a review of the 
allocation of resources to crime prevention and crime detection and punishment.  We believe a 
slight shift towards prevention could have significant impact.  This would include an expansion 
of the community alert, neighbourhood watch and crime prevention ambassador programmes.  
Such a review should also value voluntary input and examine ways of recognising it.  For ex-
ample, it may be possible to make a contribution towards the costs of properly established text 
message alert programmes.  Currently, communities must cover all the costs associated with 
these programmes, including texts, insurance, signage and VAT.

We request a review of the prison system, including a review of the balance between cost and 
security.  Such a review should also consider non-custodial options which might be appropri-
ate in certain cases, including tagging, curfews, transport restrictions and expanded community 
service programmes.  We would also suggest a review of anti-social behaviour in built-up areas, 
villages or estates and how anti-social behaviour is currently dealt with, and an examination of 
options for practical and fast sanctions and how to expedite landlords’ abilities to terminate the 
leases of undesirable tenants.

Since Muintir na Tíre made its submission, the Minister has made proposals in a number of 
these areas, and we welcome the proposals as a first step.  I thank the committee for its time and 
I am happy to take questions from members.

Chairman: I thank the witness for his excellent presentation.  Before I invite members to 
make observations or ask questions on the points raised, perhaps Mr. Garvey would tell the 
committee about the crime prevention ambassadors and what they do.

Mr. Niall Garvey: The crime prevention ambassador programme was run on a pilot basis in 
the north west.  The programme recognises the fact that the Garda does not have the resources 
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to personally visit everybody in a neighbourhood.  Gardaí can respond to crime but they do 
not have the time to make preventative calls.  The ambassador programme involved training 
those older people who had time to spare in issues around crime prevention and how they could 
advise others on crime.  The volunteers then visited the houses in their area where older or vul-
nerable people lived.  They were able to supply information from the Garda and advise people 
on how to secure their homes and look after themselves.  The programme was primarily about 
crime prevention but included some health advice.  At the end of the programme, the volunteers 
were rewarded with thanks and recognised with a certificate.  It is a programme that works in 
partnership with the Garda but performing the kind of work that gardaí do not have time to do.

Chairman: How long has the programme been in operation?

Mr. Niall Garvey: The pilot programme operated for a number of months.  It took approxi-
mately four months to recruit volunteers, train them, allow them to carry out the home visits and 
then get the feedback.  We are hoping to roll it out on a wider basis in 2016 if resources permit.

Chairman: Was there an evaluation of the effectiveness of the programme?

Mr. Niall Garvey: Yes.  An evaluation was done in partnership with the Age Friendly Ire-
land group which measured the effectiveness of the programme.  We are very happy with it and 
are keen to support a roll-out of the programme.

Chairman: That sounds good.  I invite Senator Bacik to make a comment.

Senator  Ivana Bacik: I thank Mr. Garvey for his presentation and for the great work that 
Muintir na Tíre does, particularly with the community alert programme.  What does Mr. Garvey 
believe can be done to further strengthen the community alert programme? Is there any aspect 
of the programme that would be enhanced by using digital technology or CCTV, as used in ur-
ban areas? Could those technologies be effective or applicable in rural areas?

I will now turn to the victims of crime.  I have researched the inconsistent spread of victim 
support measures around the State.  There are certain black spots where there is very little by 
way of victim support, partly because it is so reliant on volunteers.  What does Mr. Garvey 
think could be done to strengthen victim supports and to spread victim support services more 
consistently across the State?

Mr. Niall Garvey: I will first answer Senator Bacik’s second query on victim support and 
I will then ask my colleague Mr. Diarmuid Cronin to speak about community alert and CCTV.

The feedback received by Muintir na Tíre from victims of crime is that they would like 
more support and more feedback from the Garda.  The EU directive, which has been partially 
implemented, does provide for that level of support.  The Garda generally issues two letters to 
a victim, one at the beginning of an investigation and one when a perpetrator is identified.  The 
feedback from victims is that this is not enough, as the correspondences can be too far apart.  
In order for victims to receive more feedback, they would like to have personal contact with a 
member of the force who is investigating the crime.  There are restrictions on what victims can 
be told, but at least they could be reassured that something is happening.  In a case that may take 
two years to bring to fruition it can be a long time in which to hear nothing.  E-mail has been 
suggested as a quick way of keeping victims informed about a case’s progression.  Muintir na 
Tíre would concentrate on promoting victim support through the Garda, as that is what victims 
want and appreciate.
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Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: CCTV is an issue that is constantly raised at community meetings, 
and the major success of CCTV is seen in the divisions where it has been introduced on a fairly 
widespread basis.  The area I know best is the west Cork division.  Communities in west Cork, 
in co-operation with An Garda Síochána, the county council and local sponsors, have raised the 
necessary finance to install CCTV in various towns and villages throughout the division.  The 
success of the CCTV can be seen in the division’s crime statistics, which are among the lowest 
in Ireland.  It is a very large area and it would take a person about two hours to drive in any 
direction north, south, east or west.  Crime has a way of thriving in remote areas, but CCTV can 
be important at the choke points.  Communities and gardaí are very good at identifying where 
the choke points are.  In a large division like west Cork there are bridges and intersections that 
are difficult to avoid and must be crossed.  The difficulty for many communities is in finding 
the necessary funding.  Anything that can be done nationally to make a contribution towards the 
funding is really the game changer.

Chairman: I welcome Mr. Paddy Byrne, national president of Muintir na Tíre.  I under-
stand he was delayed on his way here and I thank him for taking the time to appear before the 
committee.

Mr. Paddy Byrne: I thank the Chairman and I apologise for the delay.  I was caught up 
and what is normally a one-and-a-half-hour journey ended up being a three-and-a-half-hour 
journey.

Chairman: We are in the middle of questions, and Mr. Garvey wishes to come back in.

Mr. Niall Garvey: I wish to follow up on Mr. Cronin’s comments regarding CCTV and 
technology.  The success of the text message alert programme over the past two years shows that 
technology has a place in assisting communities.  We now have over 700 registered text alert 
groups, and more than 20,000 texts are sent each month to help prevent crime.  Our experience 
shows that where groups are set up to implement the text alert guidelines correctly and where 
there is a body of such groups in a district then crime is reduced in those areas.  The statistics do 
add up.  That group, which is mentioned in the submission, must pay its own costs, which are 
not extortionate, but when one moves towards CCTV then the costs change completely.

Senator  Ivana Bacik: The witness gives west Cork as an example.  I grew up in Cork and I 
know west Cork well.  Excluding cities such as Dublin, does Muintir na Tíre have a role or does 
it have a different approach in small towns or urban centres around Ireland?  There are growing 
concerns about late-night public order offences in town centres.  Can any of the work done by 
Muintir na Tíre in rural areas be replicated in the towns?

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: Muintir na Tíre community alert groups are set up in all the towns 
in west Cork: Clonakilty, Bandon, Bantry and Dunmanway.  There are also neighbourhood 
watch groups within the towns.  The community alert can often be an umbrella organisation.  
The community alert has the advantage in that the development officers are in place.  The 
neighbourhood watch group has the liaison Garda who attends the community alert meetings 
but the extra resource of the Muintir na Tíre development officer is a huge advantage.

The issues in towns are in many ways similar.  Anti-social behaviour is one of the more im-
portant issues that needs to be dealt with in towns and housing estates where people who have 
purchased homes are unfortunate enough to be neighbours of individuals who are making their 
life a misery.  It is an issue that has become more prevalent at the meetings I attend.  In some 
areas, one would imagine there is an organised systemic campaign to drive people out of their 
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homes.  It is the issue of the future and it is growing.  There is a victim-bully relationship in 
certain cases where the individual is afraid of the bullies and afraid to make a statement to the 
Garda and afraid to use legal means.  It is necessary to create some system where a community 
group can act as an individual and make a statement of complaint and take a case on behalf of 
their community to change the way certain estates are being ruined by individuals who could 
not care less about their neighbours.

Senator  Ivana Bacik: I thank Mr. Cronin.  That is very interesting.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: I am a great admirer of Muintir na Tíre and I thank the 
organisation for its help in establishing the community alert and text alert programmes in my 
county of Donegal.  I attended a number of meetings at which Muintir na Tíre representatives 
spoke about their experience in other areas.  It is a tremendous organisation.  Its recommenda-
tions and the issues that arise at community alert meetings are a tremendous help because they 
are about people on the ground.  Its recommendations and observations are food for thought 
for those overseeing the criminal justice system.  Our committee compiled a report on penal 
reform which looked at community sanctions rather than imprisonment.  I am interested to note 
that the organisation is looking at electronic tagging and other forms rather than incarceration, 
based on the analysis of the threat the person poses.  There is so much I could say on this issue.  
The organisation’s contribution is excellent and I am sure we will forward it to the Minister for 
Justice and Equality, although she may have it already.

In terms of the joint policing committees, I have been a bit concerned about them.  The 
good news is that the new policing authority, when in place, will oversee joint policing com-
mittees.  They were a very good initiative when introduced but, as with many things, over time 
they become stale.  The witnesses may have different experiences from county to county but 
my sense is that with a new policing authority assuming responsibility for them, I hope they 
can get a fresh lease of life because it is important that senior police officers work at it.  Obvi-
ously Muintir na Tíre’s model is a partnership with An Garda Síochána and it works well, but 
extending that model to the wider communities urban and rural is the issue.  I want to hear the 
observations of the witnesses on the joint policing committees and how they could improve.

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: I am a member of the Cork joint policing committee, having been 
recently elected to it.  I was a guest of that committee and of the Limerick committee as well 
as being a member of the Kerry committee.  I note a different approach from that of the past.  
After the new committees bed in it will be interesting to see if there will be a different approach 
or more commonality.  They are an important forum for discussion and what happens after that.  
In some ways we have a dual system because in community alert we have regular district meet-
ings.  Our strategy document used to ask for four district meetings per annum.  We now have 
two because of the sheer volume of meetings.  Any forum where there can be a good discussion 
about issues affecting the community is positive provided there is a means to take the consid-
ered judgment of the forum up the ladder and make some effort to change.  The important issue 
is the desire to change rather than the nuts and bolts of the actual change.

We mentioned sentencing earlier.  Sentencing is probably the most difficult area in which 
to make major changes because if a person is sentenced to incarceration with limited space that 
will not go anywhere fast.  We need to be more imaginative and always to follow the money.  
If an individual has finances, property or a vehicle, ways and means should be put in place to 
punish him by sequestering his assets.  If a criminal is carrying out raids throughout the country 
and owns a vehicle, the vehicle should be seized.  If he has a driver’s licence, it should be taken 
from him.  If he has a passport, his opportunities to enjoy his ill-gotten gains in Spain or wher-
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ever should be limited.  If an individual comes into property and if it changes hands at some 
stage, the loans he receives for free legal aid during the course of his life should be paid back.  
If a young criminal starting out in life sees that this is a career that will give him a nice lifestyle, 
that can be countered by making the free legal aid a loan repayable out of his benefits.  There are 
many imaginative ways of dealing with an individual besides sending him to jail.  In the present 
age of development of technology, electronic tagging has a major future.  The number of awful 
crimes committed - murders and worse, if anything is worse - by people who are out on bail is 
such that beggars belief that it has been allowed to continue for so long.  The problem is that 
there is no space in jails to keep people.  Therefore tagging is important.

There is a major security industry across Ireland.  There are fleets of security vans criss-
crossing the country as well as the Garda fleet.  It should be possible to create a system where 
at any time of the day or night an individual can be checked to see whether he is where he is 
supposed to be.  Does the Chairman follow me?

Chairman: To what individual is the witness referring?

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: Whoever is being tagged.  It need not necessarily always be the 
Garda car that has to call to the house.  If diverted elsewhere, some ordinary security company 
could check if a guy is at home.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: The issue of Garda station closures in rural areas has 
received much prominence.  What Mr. Cronin has asked for, rather than focusing on Garda 
station closures, is more resources for community alert and text alert programmes.   I am a big 
supporter of these programmes, having seen waves of crime and criminal gangs so many times 
in Donegal.  The only way to truly defeat them is with the community working hand in hand 
with An Garda Síochána.  I love the idea of whole swathes of townlands looking out for suspi-
cious behaviour and, in particular, vulnerable elderly people.  It is the way to go.  With Garda 
station closures, I am concerned about the perception of security, particularly for elderly people.  
Will the witness provide some thoughts on the wider issues?  For example, if a Garda station is 
to be closed, we need to resource community alert and ensure it operates.  If we are to lose one, 
we must reassure the elderly that something else will replace it and put the investment into the 
likes of Muintir na Tíre.

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: When the Garda stations were closed a few years ago, it just hap-
pened to be the time of the perfect storm because the Garda fleet was at an all-time low and 
the five-shift system came into place as well.  The closing of the stations has not saved money.  
The problem is the local community wants to see gardaí around but without a fleet, that is not 
possible.  The gardaí need to be mobile and able to put up a checkpoint on quiet rural roads.  
Besides the motorways, there is a fantastic network of roads in rural Ireland that takes people 
into the most remote places.

The garda in a local station must have a proper office.  It is no use just having a building, as 
he or she needs a computer with broadband access and everything that goes with it.  The garda 
must be able to do the job efficiently, and technology and up-to-date information in the office 
is an absolute must.  There is that aspect to it.  Where community alert groups and gardaí are 
working well, there is a low crime rate.  Taking it by division and where district meetings are 
being held religiously, with a relationship built up by the communities and gardaí, and where 
information is coming in a two-way conversation, text alert has revolutionised the ability of 
the gardaí to get relevant information quickly to thousands of people in a district or division.  
We can see through statistics the divisions where this is working well and being used properly 
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by gardaí against districts and divisions where the process is still only finding its feet.  We can 
consider the figures, comparing towns, but the statistics speak for themselves.

I will mention Mallow district, which had 22 burglaries during September.  The west Cork 
division, which encompasses the districts of Bandon, Clonakilty, Bantry and Macroom, and in-
corporating part of Kanturk district, had 12 burglaries.  In October, west Cork had 11 burglaries.

Mr. Paddy Byrne: To add to Mr. Cronin’s comments and Deputy Mac Lochlainn’s ques-
tion, the reality of Garda station closures comes down to economics.  Most of those stations 
were already closed or not functioning properly at the time.  There are alternatives that have 
been put forward and we are a completely community-based organisation; the ethos is commu-
nity self-help.  There has been much talk of post office closures but post offices in some areas 
could be used as a one day per week Garda station at certain times.  We also have a network of 
approximately 180 to 190 community councils dotted around the country.  Most of those coun-
cils have community centres and halls, and there is also the possibility that Garda stations could 
be put in those on a day per week or fortnight.  This would mean gardaí would be more visible 
in rural areas.  The Garda stations would not be replaced but at least gardaí would be more vis-
ible on a weekly or fortnightly basis.

Mr. Niall Garvey: To respond to the Deputy’s question on resources and the allocation be-
tween gardaí and communities, to put it in perspective, Operation Thor was launched this week 
and we welcome it.  It speaks of providing 40 new high-powered vehicles for the Garda, which 
are essential, but if there were 400 new vehicles, there still would not be one in every parish 
around the country.  On the other hand, if there is a community alert group - particularly one 
actively engaging in text alert - there might be 300 people in a parish all watching and commu-
nicating with gardaí and receiving communication back for next to no cost, relatively speaking.  
That should be borne in mind in speaking about resources.

Chairman: What kind of support are these groups getting from the State to carry out this 
kind of community alert and community building work?

Mr. Niall Garvey: We receive funding from the Department of Justice and Equality and the 
Health Service Executive that essentially covers the salaries of our five development officers.  
It does not cover the ancillary support from head office and various other costs.  Effectively, it 
covers the salaries of those five people.

Chairman: It appears a relatively small investment in the organisation could make a mas-
sive difference.  That is the message I am getting.

Senator  Tony Mulcahy: With regard to electronic tagging, I assume that is coupled with 
the seizing of assets in general.  As we have noted in the past few days, there will be a Bill 
related to tagging fairly shortly.  Many of these crimes are committed by a small number of 
people up and down the country.  There is clearly not room in jails for all these people but at 
least there could be a tagging system, with which the witnesses have already agreed.  If the 
people in question can be traced up and down the country, it would make it easier for gardaí and 
support teams to get to where the criminals are located.

What funding requirements can be met in the short and medium term to assist the project?  I 
know the VAT on signage, etc., must be examined, as 23% VAT is being charged on equipment 
needed to protect communities.  Perhaps we need to bring that to the attention of the Depart-
ment of Finance, as 23% of the cost of those supplies would make a difference.
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Mr. Niall Garvey: I should point out that the Minister announced we would receive an in-
crease in funding in the coming year, and we are grateful for that.  Something needs to be done 
in funding the wider programme and community groups.  It is just over two years since the text 
alert programme was formally launched.  Many groups at the time would have raised funds for 
the initial costs for signage, insurance and the first batch of texts.  That funding has now run 
out as, generally speaking, they purchased approximately two years of texts.  They now have to 
go back to people in the community to raise funds again.  That is causing difficulty for groups.

The costs are small.  It costs an average of five cent to six cent per text and most groups 
would only receive a text every couple of weeks.  An allocation of hundreds of euro to a group 
rather than thousands would make a big difference.  It would make them feel recognised, as 
they are assisting the Garda and, to a certain extent, doing that work for their own benefit.  
There should be some recognition and even a small gesture would go a long way.

Senator  Katherine Zappone: I welcome the witnesses, thank them for the presentation 
and echo the positive comments from Deputy Mac Lochlainn and Senator Bacik about the or-
ganisation over the years.  It has been super.  The first recommendation is the establishment of 
a special purpose committee to examine rural crime.  Has the group made a formal request to 
the Department for this or was that in the formal presentation today?

Mr. Niall Garvey: This is our first request for that but we will follow it up with a request 
to the Minister.

Senator  Katherine Zappone: The committee might discuss whether to support that.  I pre-
sume we want to do so.  There is a recommendation about reviewing the allocation of resources 
and shifting a little towards prevention, which I would endorse.  Has the group any analysis or 
figures in support of the suggestion or is it a more general recommendation?

Mr. Niall Garvey: It is a general recommendation but it would be easy enough to put fig-
ures on it.  To return to my last comment, there is a large number of community alert groups, 
but they have a very small cost requirement.  A shift of €100,000 or €200,000 per annum would 
achieve an awful lot.  That is obviously a very small part of the justice budget for the year.

Senator  Katherine Zappone: Exactly.  I am a great advocate of prevention.  It might be 
useful to have some figures and to know the impact.

The Chairman asked questions on the crime prevention ambassadors programme.  It sounds 
very impressive.  Was it modelled on the practice somewhere else?  Is it possible to obtain ad-
ditional information on it, be it an evaluation or just a wider description?

Chairman: That would be useful.

Mr. Niall Garvey: Yes.  We can send the committee the report that was produced on the 
conclusion of the pilot project.

Senator  Katherine Zappone: That is fine.  I thank Mr. Garvey.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: I apologise for being delayed.  I welcome the representatives 
of Muintir na Tíre and commend them on their valuable work in the community.  I have two 
short questions.  They pertain to the debate on resources and the importance of Garda stations.  
It is not just a question of having the necessary resources but a question of the management of 
those resources.  This aspect of the debate is frequently left out.  It is a matter of what gardaí 
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stationed in a particular station are doing during their eight-hour shift.  Consider the community 
policing practices of the Metropolitan Police in London.  A regular police officer spends at least 
six hours of his or her eight-hour shift on the beat in the community.  In Ireland, by contrast, 
officers have not reached that number of hours.  Do the delegates accept that the management 
of Garda resources, and not just the availability of resources, is a very important aspect of this 
debate?

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: A greater amount of paperwork must currently be dealt with by a 
member of the Garda Síochána.  That is what I am hearing.  Paperwork and ticking boxes mean 
less time spent dealing with people face to face.  It is important that, in each community, the 
garda becomes a familiar face.  That is what Deputy Finian McGrath was speaking about in 
terms of the Metropolitan Police.  In that force, the officer on the beat knows his or her patch 
and the people, and they know the officer.  When one is on a first-name basis with one’s local 
member of the force, it means one is much more likely to come forward and assist.  One is 
much more likely to come forward on time rather than at a later stage.  Time and again, I hear 
at meetings about the frustration members have experienced because of information being re-
ceived days after the event.  The text alert has come some way towards speeding up the flow of 
information.  Sectoral policing, whereby the local member of the force has time to move around 
his own community, is desirable.  Better transport and local stations aid all that.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: My second and final question, in respect of which I am open to 
correction, is on the community text alert issue.  Was there an event in recent days in which the 
text alert was used to apprehend two individuals?  Immediately when the word went out that 
the alleged offenders were in the area, a text went out and a group of people followed them.  
Could this not lead to a very dangerous, volatile set of circumstances?  If a group of neighbours 
follows somebody who intends to break into another neighbour’s house, it could end up very 
negatively, perhaps owing to the use of a knife, gun or other weapon.  One could end up in 
worse circumstances.  Do the delegates have concerns about this aspect of the text alert system?

Chairman: On that point, there have been calls for people to arm themselves in houses.  
This is linked to what the Deputy is saying.  As a community-based organisation, Muintir na 
Tíre might comment on the calls that have been made, including at some public meetings, in 
fact.

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: I am not familiar with the incident the Deputy mentioned but be-
lieve it is completely and utterly against our ethos.  Ours is not a vigilante organisation; we have 
no hand, act or part in that practice.  We will not support or give any approval for any act such as 
that described.  It is completely the opposite of what we repeat constantly at meetings, namely, 
that one must not get involved.  One should observe and report.  Individuals who take the law 
into their own hands, such as those referred to, are certainly not following our ethos.  They are 
putting themselves and their families in danger.

A discussion that crops up now and again but which has enjoyed greater impetus lately 
concerns the business of taking out a gun and confronting individuals.  Once again, that is 
completely and utterly against the ethos that Muintir na Tíre and Community Alert have been 
preaching over the years.  It is foolish to the point of being foolhardy.  Individuals who pick up a 
gun thinking they are going to confront raiders on their property by firing a warning shot are, in 
the first instance, going to create two victims: the guy they fire at and themselves.  A week later, 
they are going to be looking over their shoulder wondering when retribution is going to come, 
and their families are going to be doing so also.  What happens if the gangs fire back?  What 
happens if the gangs begin to arm themselves?  It leads to chaos.  We have a policing record 
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since the foundation of the State in which guns have not been a factor, and there is no need for 
them to be introduced now.  For any farmer or householder to fire warning shots or otherwise is 
foolishness to the point of being ridiculous.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: I have a final question because a very important aspect was 
raised.  I totally agree with Mr. Cronin’s principles and vision on that issue.  However, when 
one talks to people living in an isolated area or some people in an urban area such as the one I 
represent, where there is massive intimidation and fear, one realises they may have a different 
view.  They say that if somebody is coming in their window at 3 o’clock in the morning and 
they have a legally held weapon, they are entitled to defend their home, property and life.  It can 
just be a matter of seconds.  Their argument would be that they have a right, and I can under-
stand that view if someone is breaking in at 3 o’clock or 4 o’clock in the morning.  Particularly 
where there are drugs involved in the urban areas, some of the burglars are just out of their 
heads.  It is not just a matter of them nicking €50 or €60; they could be so high that they would 
thrash the house and householder, who could end up dead.  People with legally held shotguns 
say to me they have a right to defend their life and family.

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: There is a major difference between defending one’s life and fam-
ily from imminent attack and firing warning shots.  The other point to bear in mind is that the 
vast majority of people who go around the country breaking into homes are not going to give 
advance notice that they are going to arrive at one’s door.  In most robberies, the criminals go 
in and out and are never noticed.  To have a situation where a guy is sitting armed and waiting 
reminds me of the Martin case in the United Kingdom.  We do not want to go there.

Chairman: That addresses the difference between fear of crime and crime itself.  Mr. Cro-
nin might want to comment on the fear of crime and the impact it has on communities.

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: The fear of crime is actually far worse than crime.  Most people 
have perhaps one serious encounter with a criminal in the course of their lives.  Many people 
never have an incident.  However, there are people who cannot sleep at night because of the fear 
that they might be raided.  I cannot give an answer because there are two sides to it.  Without a 
certain level of apprehension, people will relax and do nothing to protect themselves, such as 
become involved in community alert or neighbourhood watch groups.  Without apprehension, 
they will not put up security lights, lock their back doors or invest in any of the facilities that 
people invest in.  A certain apprehension is necessary but fear is a disease.

Chairman: I have a number of questions before we finish.  Mr. Cronin raised the issue of 
legal aid and has talked about restricting it and making people pay for it themselves.  There is a 
practice of having a number of solicitors covering different charges against the same individual 
and the witnesses suggest that it should be changed to one solicitor per client.  Mr. Cronin has 
said that there is a fear of restorative justice.  Will he comment on that fear and where it comes 
from?  He has said that it is a possible solution but at the same time there is a fear of it.

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: I presume that many people are not very happy about meeting their 
predator, as it were.

Chairman: Mr. Cronin has already spoken about people being deprived of a driving licence 
if they are driving a vehicle that has been used in the course of a robbery, which is an interesting 
point.  He has spoken about cross-jurisdiction policing.  Could he expand on what he means by 
cross-jurisdiction policing and how it operates on the ground?
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Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: That comment came from my colleague who deals with the North-
ern region.  It was evident there recently with the unfortunate death of Garda Tony Golden.  
Better flow of information between the different agencies on the Border might possibly have 
created a situation in which that incident might not have occurred.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Cronin.

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: Co-operation between different agencies is a solution to many dif-
ferent problems that we have in the community.  The one that comes most to mind is the ef-
fort the Garda Síochána made to combat metal theft two years.  It involved different agencies, 
including the Department of Social and Family Affairs, Customs and Excise, and the county 
councils.  One interesting thing that came out of that was that many of the individuals involved 
in the theft of metal were claiming disability allowance.  In recent times, a number of criminals 
apprehended after major chases were receiving disability allowance and their partners were 
receiving carer’s allowance.  There is room for the different agencies of the State to look at an 
individual’s entire life history.  It comes back to deterrence again; there is more to deterrence 
than sentencing.

Chairman: Will Mr. Cronin comment on something that seems quite sensible - the practi-
cal system of property marking and tracing?  I understand that forensic marking is available in 
other jurisdictions and is very effective, but it is not available here.  Will Mr. Cronin explain 
what would be involved in introducing it to this jurisdiction?  Why is it not here at the moment?  
Is there a cost involved and has any work been done to explore how it works?

Mr. Diarmuid Cronin: I have done quite a lot of work on it since 2011.  I looked at the 
various markings.  A common denominator of all forensic markings is that they need ultraviolet 
light to be seen.  They come in many different shapes and forms but ultraviolet light is the com-
mon denominator.  It is needed for the search parties that go out to search a criminal’s property 
and in the district offices where a criminal is being proceeded, to see the markings if they are 
present.  At the time there were a number of companies - the major players were SelectedDNA 
and SmartWater.  However, none of the companies could get a major contract that would allow 
them to really develop the sales of their product in the country.

Copper cable is used by wind farms, telecoms companies and Iarnród Éireann and there 
could be major contracts with banks, credit unions, or any kind of a property on which an indi-
vidual might carry out a raid.  The Garda Síochána needs resources in order to have a system in 
its laboratory to read the markings.  It is a game changer and is a major player in other jurisdic-
tions.  It is a crime preventative because if a property is marked, it creates a big reason not to 
raid it.  I spoke about such a product at one of my community alert meetings and a person asked 
me where he could get it.  I asked him what exactly he would be using it on and he said that 
he had a record collection of LPs, including some golden discs which were quite valuable, and 
he knew that if he marked his records that no matter where in the world they were distributed, 
whether the USA, UK or Europe, they could be traced back to him.

The Garda Síochána recovers an immense amount of property every year which has to be 
auctioned because nobody can claim it and the Garda cannot determine who is the owner.  This 
is a crying shame.  My predecessor in community alert was a retired garda sergeant called Pat 
O’Leary.  He advocated that people stamp numbers, such as their telephone number, onto their 
property.  Perhaps something like Eircode could be stamped.  It is very difficult to etch or stamp 
but it is simple to use the equivalent of nail varnish and just mark little dabs here and there and 
have it traced internationally back to one’s home and property.
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Chairman: That was very interesting.  Perhaps it is something we should recommend that 
the Minister takes on board.  Does Mr. Byrne, as president, want to sum up?

Mr. Paddy Byrne: I will comment on a number of issues.  Deputy McGrath raised the 
whole question of the text alert system and the dangers that lie therein.  Those dangers will be 
there regardless of whether we have text alert.  We see text alert as a major benefit.  We insist 
that all our affiliated members and community alert groups follow the guidelines that we lay 
down as strictly as possible.  These were implemented by us in conjunction with the Garda Sío-
chána.  We hope that this would deter people from taking a more extreme route.

We have had much debate on rural crime.  It would seem that all crime, in particular rural 
crime, is committed by extreme criminals and perhaps we are all a little bit responsible for 
that extremeness.  If one looks at free legal aid, an offender can commit a number of different 
crimes, yet is able to carry on forever committing crimes without any sort of penalty or clause.  
We should ask ourselves if we are fostering a situation in which we are creating extreme crimi-
nals over a period of time.  If all these other things were put in place and if people were sanc-
tioned, perhaps by deductions in social welfare, the denial of free legal aid or changes to our 
bail laws, it would help to counteract the extreme element that exists.  I wish to point out that 
only an extreme element is involved in criminal activities.  I shall not mention particular cases.  
However, in a recent case seven individuals broke into a family home which was an horrific 
experience for the victims and one can only imagine what they suffered.  I have outlined all of 
these elements and we look for support in order to change the situation.

There is another element which is of huge concern in rural areas and it is one that crops up 
repeatedly.  Community alert groups and community councils have told us about the issue of 
cash for scrap and cash for gold.  It is accepted now that most farm machinery that is stolen in 
this country is cut down and sold for cash.  

Chairman: Part of the problem is that citizens purchase such goods.

Mr. Paddy Byrne: Yes but maybe they do so unknowingly.  There are 12 or 13 main scrap 
dealers in the Republic but they seem to be unregulated.  The rest of us must show a C2 certifi-
cate, a driver’s licence or some form of identification if we want to do business but the scrap 
industry seems to be unregulated.  The powers that be must put a mechanism in place to stop 
this trade and make people accountable.  One way to resolve the issue is to discontinue cash 
payments and insist on invoiced receipted payments through the use of credit transfers, cheques 
or whatever.  We seek the committee’s support in all of these issues.  We are grateful for the 
opportunity to attend today and the invitation was timely.  We hope something good will come 
out of this meeting.

Chairman: On behalf of all of the citizens we congratulate the organisation on 30 years of 
community alert.  We will take on board the recommendations and points it has made.  We will 
formulate a letter for the Minister that outlines the issues.  This committee, and maybe the com-
mittee that follows us, can follow up on the good suggestions that have been made.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: We will definitely follow up on these matters if we get back in.

Chairman: The Deputy is a sure cert if anyone wishes to place a bet.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: We will all help community alert by knocking on peo-
ple’s doors.
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Chairman: The delegation has made a number of interesting points.  This is an important 
meeting and we have had a good engagement with the organisation.  I thank the delegation for  
attending today.  I propose we suspend for a few moments to allow a change of witnesses and I 
wish the delegation a safe journey home.

Mr. Paddy Byrne: I thank the Chairman.

Sitting suspended at 10.43 a.m. and resumed at 10.45 a.m. 

White Paper on Defence: Reserve Defence Forces Representative Association

Chairman: The purpose of this part of the meeting is to facilitate an engagement with 
representatives of the Reserve Defence Forces Representative Association, RDFRA.  We shall 
discuss with the Reserve Defence Forces how specific elements of the recent White Paper on 
Defence might be implemented.  Members will recall that when the Minister was here recently 
he recommended that we have an engagement with the RDFRA, which is what we are doing to-
day.  We are joined by Mr. Patrick Mulley who is the chairman of RDFRA.  He is welcome and 
I thank him for being here.  I also welcome Mr. Neil Richardson, general secretary and Mr. Ed-
die Mulligan who is a member of the association.  The association will be aware of the format 
as it has been here previously.  I invite the delegation to make a formal five minute presentation 
which will be followed by a question and answer session.

Before we begin, I draw the attention of witnesses to the situation regarding privilege.  They 
should note that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, they are protected by 
absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  However, if they are directed 
by it to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and they continue to so do, they are entitled 
thereafter only to qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are directed that only 
evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and witnesses 
are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they should 
not criticise or make charges against any person or an entity by name or in such a way as to 
make him, her or it identifiable.  Members are reminded that under the rulings of the Chair, they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or an of-
ficial, either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I call on Mr. Richardson to make an opening statement. 

Mr. Neil Richardson: I thank the Chairman and members for having us, it is great to be 
back here.  During our last appearance before this committee, in November 2014, we spoke at 
length about multiple issues that faced the Reserve Defence Forces at that time, namely the in-
troduction of key performance indicators to the Reserve, structural conflict between the Perma-
nent Defence Force and the Reserve Defence Forces, recruitment and the package of supports 
required for the Reserve into the future.  We also spoke about the hidden costs to individual 
reservists which are an unwelcome element of membership of the force.  We spoke about the 
training, roles and functions of the Reserve, issues that existed at the time within the Naval Ser-
vice Reserve element of the force, and international trends regarding the utilisation of reserve 
forces and the supports required for this to be achieved effectively.  The final matter we spoke 
about were the benefits of reserve membership to individuals and the benefits that reservists 
bring to the military, their civilian employers, and their communities in general.  We believe a 
brief update on these matters is warranted.
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Key performance indicators are annual performance benchmarks that a reservist must meet 
in order to be considered as an effective member of the force.  The most serious challenge 
facing reservists is the annual medical exam.  It had to be conducted during working hours in 
a military barracks and was not the easiest task to organise for volunteer reservists who have 
civilian employment.  Thankfully, we can report that an interim measure now exists which al-
lows reservists to be medically examined by their GP, in their own time and at no cost to the 
individual thereby dispelling this problem.  It is a positive development but, unfortunately, the 
Defence Forces have not revised its personnel management infrastructure to cater for medical 
grades provided by GPs which presents an obstacle for reservists in terms of access to fitness 
tests and courses. 

In terms of the Naval Service Reserve, we are happy to report that forum meetings have 
been subsequently held between us and the military authorities with a view to rectifying many 
of these outstanding issues.  These meetings have been extremely productive and all involved 
are actively working towards improving the Naval Service Reserve into the future.

We can also report that the employer engagement programme which we initiated has been 
formally adopted by the military authorities.  A Defence Forces working group on Reserve De-
fences Forces employer engagement has been established and it includes two members of this 
representative association.  The working group will shortly release a Reserve Defence Forces 
employer’s handbook which is the first step to actively engage with Irish employers but more 
will be needed in this regard.

The issue of recruitment is still a matter of significant ongoing concern.  Following the 
reorganisation of the Defence Forces in 2012, the Reserve was reduced from an establishment 
figure of 9,500 down to 4,069 personnel.  That figure has been increased to 4,169 personnel 
following the announcement in the White Paper of an increase in the Naval Service Reserve 
establishment figure.  At present, the Reserve has 2,712 members due to a lengthy recruitment 
and promotions embargo which has adversely affected the supply of new personnel needed to 
bring the force up to the establishment figure.  The embargo has also had the knock-on effect of 
making it difficult to fill vacancies as they arise. 

This year, recruitment competitions yielded an increase of just over 300 new members but 
retirements due to natural wastage have resulted in a loss of more than 200 other personnel.  
Overall this means that there has been a net gain of approximately 100 new members.  If this 
rate of increase were to continue on a yearly basis into the future then it will be 2030 before the 
Reserve will have recruited up to its establishment figure which is a period beyond the intended 
life of the White Paper.

With regard to the package of supports required by the Reserve into the future, one of the 
key issues is the use of staff from the Permanent Defence Force.  We completely recognise and 
acknowledge that specialist instruction from highly qualified members of the Permanent De-
fence Force is vital to the progression and development of the Reserve.  Therefore, we contend 
that the involvement of such highly qualified Permanent Defence Force instructors with the Re-
serve, as instructors, should come with a financial incentive.  With this in mind, a Reserve De-
fence Force specialist instruction allowance should be investigated with a view to its implemen-
tation for members of the Permanent Defence Force, specifically for those Permanent Defence 
Force instructors who can provide expertise that the Reserve does not organically possess.

The roles and functions of the Reserve in respect of training have been formalised in the 
recent White Paper.  The White Paper states that the primary role of the Reserve is to aug-
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ment the Permanent Defence Force in times of crisis, and a further formal role assigned to the 
Reserve is to contribute to State ceremonial events.  In this regard and in particular in respect 
of the primary role, we seek clarification on what exactly is defined as a time of crisis.  If this 
definition is allowed to remain vague and nebulous, as it is currently, it could arguably result in 
the under-utilisation of the Reserve in times of great national need.  Furthermore, in respect of 
the primary role of the Reserve being a force to be called on only in times of crisis – an as yet 
undefined term – the White Paper also references the creation of a specialist Reserve because:

...there may be professional skills that on occasion may not be readily available in the 
PDF. In this context, there may be individual members of the RDF, who by virtue of their 
professional civilian qualifications or in the case of members of the FLR, professional mili-
tary skills, have the competence to undertake such specialised tasks. These could include 
ICT, medical, ordnance and engineering professionals.

  While we are delighted that such a specialist Reserve is to be created, it makes little sense 
to attract highly-skilled and qualified professionals to this force, only for them to be told that 
they might be used in a future time of crisis, whatever that might be.  A serious motivating 
factor for such qualified professionals to join a specialist Reserve would be to apply their 
civilian skills in a military environment, i.e., to actually do a job.  Therefore, we strongly re-
quest that the Reserve be provided with a defined role that includes utilisation of the Reserve 
outside of crisis situations, for the sake of attracting qualified professionals to the new special-
ist Reserve and to get the best value for money and engagement from the Reserve Defence 
Force in general.  Everything, including recruitment, training, the level of commitment of 
members and organisational outputs, flows from purpose.  This purpose must be real, current 
and tangible rather than a distant maybe.  Personnel need to be utilised for operational roles 
and the requirement of that operation will drive the training and standards.

The hidden costs of membership are primarily the costs of travel to and from reservist 
barracks or training centres.  These costs have actually risen following the barracks closures 
of recent years which have forced many reservists to travel further afield to attend training.  
Recently, the Minister stated his intention to use an element of the €437 million capital spend-
ing plan on defence to begin rolling back the pay cuts imposed on members of the Permanent 
Defence Force by the Lansdowne Road agreement.  The Lansdowne Road agreement similarly 
resulted in Reserve Defence Force pay cuts, and so we are seeking assurances that any roll-back 
in Permanent Defence Force pay cuts will include a roll-back of RDF pay cuts as well.  Unlike 
the Permanent Defence Force, those in the Reserve do not enjoy graduated pay scales.  On ob-
taining a given rank, a reservist will be paid at the entry level for this rank for however long he 
stays at this rank, despite length of service.

Similarly, the end-of-year gratuity was taken from Reserve members in 2012.  Ostensibly 
this was to provide a force of 4,069 members with 41,000 paid training man-days per year but 
this was a membership figure the force was never enabled or allowed to reach.  Moreover, the 
number of paid training man-days has been slashed annually to its current allotment of 26,000 
per annum.  This effectively negates the reason for removing the gratuity from members in the 
first place.  In contrast, members of the first line Reserve, that is, ex-Permanent Defence Force 
members, still receive a gratuity, as do members of the Garda Reserve.  The White Paper states 
that reactivating annual paid training for members of the first line Reserve is to be investigated, 
i.e., the provision of an additional source of income for this group.  To members of the Reserve, 
the benefits of a returned gratuity would also outweigh the relatively small cost.  It would have 
a significant and positive impact on recruitment and retention within the Reserve, primarily 
by making it less expensive for someone to be a member of the force and thereby producing 
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the greatest value-for-money to the State.  The gratuity was generally a much-needed end-of-
year reimbursement for the often substantial costs incurred travelling to and from barracks and 
other military training locations.  We contend that the reintroduction of a gratuity needs to be 
investigated as a matter of urgency.  We believe Reserve members, who are loyal and commit-
ted volunteers in the service of the State, should not have to pay out substantial sums in annual 
travel costs to give this service to the State.  Furthermore, we completely agree with the earlier 
statements from the Minister to the effect that the Reserve needs to recruit the right people.  A 
gratuity would certainly go a long way towards attracting qualified professionals to the force.

We broadly welcome the contents of the recently published White Paper on Defence and 
consider them positive and constructive.  Outside of Chapter 8, which deals with the Reserve 
Defence Force, we have identified initiatives that could be expanded to utilise or benefit Re-
serve personnel.  First, a scheme similar to the defence contribution to employment support 
scheme for those aged 18 to 24 years, as outlined in Chapter 4 of the White Paper, could be 
established for unemployed reservists.  This would see these individuals obtain skills that could 
aid them in securing employment.  These skills would also then be retained within the Defence 
Forces.  Second, in respect of women in peacekeeping, Chapter 3 of the White Paper identifies 
that all-female overseas units may be required in gender-sensitive peacekeeping roles.  While 
the Permanent Defence Force is comprised of 6% women, the Army Reserve is 16.3% female 
while the Naval Service Reserve is 22% female.  This clearly marks Reserve female personnel 
as worthy of serious consideration for inclusion in any such all-female overseas peacekeeping 
unit.

We are keen to clarify that this representative association completely supports the imple-
mentation of the contents of the White Paper, but we also wish to advise on how elements of 
the White Paper, as they pertain to the Reserve, could and should be implemented.  The White 
Paper provides scope for such suggestions, for example, “The Department of Defence will 
undertake a review of the provisions of the Defence Acts and bring forward proposals for any 
changes to the Defence Acts that may be required in order to reflect the possible crisis situa-
tions, where activation of members of the Reserve is appropriate.”  Another example is, “The 
broader RDF organisational structures will be kept under ongoing review by the Department of 
Defence.”  A further example is:

Accordingly, approaches to recruitment and retention will be kept under ongoing review 
having regard to their success rates and the key goal of having an efficient and effective 
Reserve. In this context, the current organisational structures will also be kept under review.

A final example is, “The Department will identify the options available to underpin the en-
gagement of those specialist members of the Reserve...”

The word “review” is mentioned many times.  It is evident that the specifics of how deci-
sions relating to the Reserve will be implemented have yet to be finalised.  Therefore, we are 
keen to advise on how several elements of the White Paper of relevance to the Reserve Defence 
Force could be rolled out or advanced in future.  Furthermore, we are requesting that this repre-
sentative association should remain central to any panels or boards involved in such implemen-
tation, since the presence of representative association delegates in such circumstances could 
only benefit the overall process.  Representation is an essential part of the military management 
blend and we require assurances that no unilateral decisions will be taken without proper con-
sultation.  I thank the committee and I am happy to invite any questions members of the com-
mittee might have.

Deputy  Seán Ó Fearghaíl: I thank Mr. Mulley, Mr. Richardson and Mr. Mulligan for the 
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presentation.  It was succinct and clear.  It raises a number of issues; first and foremost is the 
area of recruitment.  I have raised the issue of recruitment in the Reserve Defence Force on 
several occasions here and in the House with the Minister.  I am convinced that the Minister for 
Defence, Deputy Coveney, is strongly committed to the development of the Reserve.

Given the figures, the reality is that there continue to be significant difficulties in achieving 
the establishment figure.  Mr. Richardson stated in his presentation that at the current rate of 
progress it will be 2030 before the establishment figure is reached.  Let us consider that reality 
alongside what appears, on initial reading, in the White Paper to be a strong commitment to the 
Reserve.  However, then we factor in the frequent use of the term “review”.  It seems to create 
a situation in which there is not, in so far as the Reserve is concerned, the sort of certainty that 
is needed to be able to move forward and conduct the type of effective recruitment campaign 
that is needed.

I have looked at the Reserve forces throughout Europe.  In many countries there are more 
members in the Reserve than in the permanent defence forces.  The reverse is the situation here.  
In light of the overall situation, and given that all of us are supportive of what this is about, we 
have to see that there is a major benefit to society at large in having a reserve force that can be 
called upon routinely and in times of crisis, as referred to in the White Paper.  However there is 
also a significant benefit to those participants in the Reserve.  Perhaps the deputation could tell 
us a little about that.  My sense is that the training, discipline, collegiality and everything that 
comes from participation actually benefits the person as well as benefiting society.  Moreover, 
there is an ultimate benefit for employers.  I call on the deputation to outline more to us their 
ideas around the specialist Reserve that may be established and the extent to which that special-
ist Reserve could be used.  I take the point made by the deputation that unless we have a broad 
meaning attributed to “crisis” then we will not see the level of utilisation that we should see of 
this specialist Reserve.  If we have a broad use or broad interpretation of “crisis” then “crisis” 
ceases to have any meaning.

Chairman: We will let the witnesses back on that question and then you can put a further 
question afterwards, if you wish.  I have to declare an interest.  I was 23 years in the Reserve.  
I believe I benefited significantly from it, so I take your point on that, Deputy Ó Feargháil.  I 
invite Mr. Richardson to respond to the points about recruitment, specialisation and so on, after 
which Deputy Ó Fearghaíl may like to come back in with further comments or questions.

Mr. Neil Richardson: On recruitment, the Minister has said it needs to be a vigorous pro-
cess and we support that.  The testing should be the same as for members of the Permanent 
Defence Force; we wholeheartedly agree with that.  There is interest out there in joining the 
Reserve Defence Force but the message is simply not reaching the people who might wish to 
join.  Our suggestion is that a national campaign might be more effective than the type of lo-
calised campaign that has been pursued until now.  If the advertising budget were spent on a 
national television and radio campaign, as well as on social media and new media campaigns, 
as opposed to placing advertisements in local newspapers where they might not necessarily be 
accessed by young people, it might lead to a serious increase in uptake.

We are hearing talk at present of the upper ceiling for enlistment being dropped from 35 to 
25 years.  If we are trying to recruit qualified professionals and specialists to the Reserve, we 
should bear in mind that it will be particularly difficult to get people with any serious amount 
of experience in any sector at age 24 or 25.  As such, we would like to see the ceiling retained 
at age 35.  In the British Army, to give a comparison, our cousins across the water hire some 
specialist personnel up to the age of 60.
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One aspect of recruitment about which we have serious concerns relates to Garda vetting 
and the process whereby applicants have to fill out a form and send it off for processing and 
approval before they are eligible for recruitment to the Reserve.  In some instances, it is tak-
ing nine or ten months for those forms to be processed and returned, by which time the Garda 
clearance is void.  There are dedicated citizens who want to join the Reserve but who are being 
turned away because their Garda vetting forms were not processed on time.  This issue affected 
some 100 applicants this year, which is a serious chunk of our recruitment.  It is an issue we 
would like to see addressed.  The main point I would like members to take away regarding re-
cruitment is that the budget probably does need to be redirected into something more national 
rather than having local campaigns which may not be connecting with young people.

I ask my colleague, Mr. Mulligan, to deal with the question of the definition of a crisis situ-
ation.

Mr. Eddie Mulligan: We are 100% happy that members of the Reserve Defence Force are 
carrying out their ceremonial role effectively.  However, clarity is required in respect of our 
crisis role.  The Government has asked us to augment the Defence Forces in crisis situations but 
we need to be prepared for such situations.  In particular, we are being cut out in the training 
necessity, or what a commander perceives would be a training necessity.  The White Paper men-
tions aid to the civil power and aid to the civil authority tasks as an area where support could be 
given.  However, there is no particular Reserve Defence Force syllabus for that area.  To some 
extent, training for that role can really only be acquired by completing the job in hand.  In that 
regard, there is a necessity for people to be operationally driving the training requirements of 
the Reserve.

On further training, chapter 8 of the White Paper states, “Notwithstanding the ability of the 
PDF to undertake day-to-day operations and to deal with a range of contingencies, there are cir-
cumstances where operational demands could exceed the capacity of the PDF.”  The document 
goes on to give as examples of such circumstances: “... a significant deterioration in the inter-
national security environment resulting in a conventional military attack on this State, a large 
scale security event at home, certain civil contingencies that could require large scale Defence 
Forces’ support, e.g., a major pandemic, events that require a sustained effort over a prolonged 
period of time ...”  The White Paper states that the Reserve Defence Force offers a cost-effective 
means of mitigating the risk of the Permanent Defence Force being unable to meet operational 
requirements.

Taking chapter 8 into account, together with the suggestion of particular response teams set 
out in chapter 3.3 in respect of the defence of the State from armed aggression, we must bear 
in mind that the generation of military capabilities can have significant lead-in times.  If the 
definition of a crisis situation is not sufficiently clear, it could lead to an implied view than an 
aggressor will effectively work to a timescale that is convenient to the Defence Forces.  In real-
ity, maintaining military capabilities for a worst-case scenario on an ongoing basis would be 
prohibitively expensive.  This is where the Army Reserve and the Naval Service Reserve can 
provide an ability to transition immediately into an organised and capable insurgency force with 
established resources, skills, tactics and leadership, such as the command control we have at the 
moment.  Under the current Reserve model, resources, skills and leadership instruction extend 
from national to local level and there is a capacity to transition quickly into a well-resourced, 
well-organised and well-dispersed local insurgency organisation under the single-force con-
cept, which emphasises the importance of a local Reserve Defence Force as a bedrock element 
of defence policy.  In order to realise that role, we must be prepared for it.  However, the defini-
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tion of the crisis element within the White Paper does not allow for that.  It must be incorporated 
within the operational day-to-day implementation of the role.

In the case of the Naval Service Reserve, we are carrying out a role at the moment where 
there have been shortages of personnel within the Naval Service.  Going by the definition in the 
White Paper, are we to take it there will never be such shortages of personnel into the future 
and, if so, what exactly would define a crisis?  Will we have one commanding officer who will 
decide we are not in crisis through shortage of personnel, in which case Naval Service Reserve 
personnel will not be asked to support seagoing vessels, even though we could have a com-
mander on a particular seagoing vessel who is seriously short of personnel during a particular 
trip?  It is a question of who defines what constitutes a crisis.  We have had situations where 
leading hands were given their own watch going forward.

Another issue to consider is that the Naval Service Reserve is currently performing an infor-
mation-gathering function within the primary ports around the coast.  In the Waterford unit of 
the Reserve, for instance, we go out and patrol weekly, carry out sighting reports and pass them, 
through a reporting mechanism, back through operations within the naval base.  In other words, 
the Naval Service Reserve has de facto been carrying out a port security role, albeit through 
a voluntary organisation, within the Waterford, Cork, Limerick and Dublin port areas.  In the 
current economic climate, it does not make sense that, via the definition of “crisis”, we may be 
effectively undermining the assets we have within the Naval Service Reserve when it comes to 
protecting our ports.  Is the White Paper inadvertently undermining a vital voluntary asset for 
coastal information-gathering on behalf of the State?  In short, we are worried the White Paper 
might undermine the deterrent function we are performing.

Deputy  Seán Ó Fearghaíl: Will the delegates elaborate on their reference to an employ-
ment support scheme?  It sounds like a good idea.

Mr. Neil Richardson: Our idea of an employer engagement programme was adopted by 
the Defence Forces and a Reserve Defence Force employer engagement working group was 
established.  I am a member of that group, together with another member of the representative 
association.  A Reserve Defence Force employer handbook will be published very shortly and 
provided to all major employers in Ireland.  All reservists will be given a copy to present to 
their employer.  It is a fantastic way of engaging with employers and showcasing the value of 
reservists.

The question then arises as to what the next step should be.  International trends suggest that 
step should be employment protection legislation to support reservists in times of activation and 
utilisation, coupled with employer supports.  To give an example, the Australian military will, 
instead of buying in a lawyer from a civilian firm, activate a reservist lawyer and pay him or her 
at the appropriate rank.  The individual’s employer is reimbursed to a certain degree for the loss 
of that staff member.  This works out cheaper than hiring someone from the private sector to 
come in and do the job and there is a gain for the reservist, his or her employer and the military.  
It is something we will need to look at doing.  The employer engagement booklet is very much 
a first step; deciding what comes next is where it gets tricky.

Deputy  Seán Ó Fearghaíl: The ending of the Reserve gratuity seems to be to be a signifi-
cant problem.  As I understand it, that payment was ordinarily used by people to defray the cost 
of participation.  Am I correct in saying that because of the closure of barracks, people are now 
travelling much further to participate?  Is the withdrawal of the gratuity also proving a problem 
when it comes to the vital area of recruitment?
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Mr. Neil Richardson: It absolutely is a problem.  Barrack closures mean people are travel-
ling double the distance they formerly did to attend training and so on.  The gratuity was taken 
from us under the 2012 value-for-money review under the auspices of providing a force of 
4,069 members with 41,000 paid training man-days per year.  However, the force has never 
reached that capacity because it was never enabled to do so.  We currently have only 26,000 
paid training man-days per year.  The very reasons the gratuity was taken from RDF members 
were never met or we were never helped in meeting them.  It dissolves immediately the reasons 
the gratuity was taken away.

These costs are becoming more and more of an issue.  To give an anecdotal example, for 
someone who joins the Reserve in Castlebar, his or her main training location for weekends 
might be Athlone Barracks, which is quite a considerable distance away.  Now that reservist is 
being expected to pay for travel back and forth for however many weekends or weeks during 
the year.  If one presents this to a potential recruit, the recruit says, “ I am not paying to join 
the force.  That is ridiculous.”, and simply does not apply.  If the gratuity had been retained, it 
would make it at least cost-neutral for them to join and that could seriously increase our num-
bers.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: I thank Mr. Richardson for his presentation.  My col-
league, Deputy Crowe, my party’s foreign affairs and defence spokesperson, cannot make it 
today because there is a meeting of the Joint Committee on Foreign Affairs and Trade.  I was my 
party’s previous defence spokesperson and I am fairly well placed to represent him here today.

The issues during my time as defence spokesperson were around the cutbacks.  In the peak, 
in 2006, the budget was €7.1 million and, in 2014, it was €1.3 million.  It was a very serious 
cutback that they faced.  Allied with the issue of the centralisation of training and access to 
facilities, it must be having an impact on recruitment.  To a degree, that has been touched on.

The Government cut the numbers of Reserve Defence Force in half, slashed the budget 
drastically and made it much more difficult for potential young recruits to the Reserve Defence 
Force from rural areas to access it.  When one talks about the White Paper - next year there will 
be a net gain of 100 and projections forward to 2030 - one of my concerns in the past was that 
when these decisions were being made RDFRA, as a representative association, was not get-
ting access to the Minister to convey its concerns.  The Chairman was a Reserve Defence Force 
member for 23 years.  I would like to believe that every Member of the Oireachtas genuinely 
respects the role, patriotism and community participation of members of the Reserve Defence 
Force.  What is RDFRA’s sense of how we can start to reinstate the Reserve Defence Force’s 
place in Irish society over the next 20 years?

Mr. Neil Richardson: I will pass the question over to Mr. Mulley.

Mr. Patrick Mulley: On the budgetary allocation, we are down to €2,150,000 in the Esti-
mates for this year.  In contrast, that is half the cleaning bill for cleaners engaged by the Defence 
Forces.  When one looks at the phone bill, it is four times what is allocated to ourselves.  In that 
context, it is a straight-line graph which has been going down since 2012.

On fulfilling the numbers in the recruitment, we have a situation now where we are not 
maintaining the numbers we had originally.  Even though we had 150 recruits who crossed the 
threshold, got in and got a boot on their foot last year, the system that is in place is now very 
elongated and we are taking nearly 12 months to bring somebody in, from first contact until he 
or she finally reaches attestation.  That is too long for any voluntary organisation.
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As regards the reinstatement of the resource allocation, as the financial situation improves 
in the country, we would be delighted that an allocation would be improved also for the RDF.  
The bottom line here is that if it is a set allocation, then that is all we can do.  We cannot recruit 
any more.  We do not have the clothing for them, we do not have the footwear for them and we 
will not have the places for them if the allocation is not increased.

The other factor going forward to 2030 would be that the RDF needs a functionality.  As the 
Chairman said on the previous occasion, one cannot be training and then do nothing with the 
training.  We need a framework whereby those who will make decisions at some time in the fu-
ture at these reviews will set out the functionality.  Even if it is only barracks duties or whatever 
kind of in-house duties we can carry out, that would fulfil some role for a start.

The interesting part is the specialist Reserve that is talked about in the White Paper.  We 
have many specialists.  Even in smaller units, we have a range of specialists, from carpenters to 
scientists.  If those reservists were utilised in a role at home before they had any role overseas 
or anything like that, it would be a step in the right direction.  It is difficult for the professional 
combat soldier commander to turn around and say he or she has 20 RDF members for Friday 
next.  It is difficult for them to get to that point because we all are engaged in our own employ-
ment.  The fundamental element to address that is employment legislation.  If one can guarantee 
that one can take 20 guys out of their jobs on Friday next for a week and that they will be in their 
job the following Friday, then there is no problem.  That professional soldier will say to himself 
that he can count on those RDF members, that is where he has a gap and that is how he can fill 
it.  It is not pie in the sky to say that we need employment legislation.  The committee members 
will be well aware at this stage that there are zero contract hours and all sorts of turn-up-when-
you-can type contracts.  Anybody who is in a job will not risk his job and would be foolish to 
do so.  The more responsible members of the RDF are those who would be in good jobs.

Going back to one of the questions Deputy Ó Fearghaíl asked earlier on the benefits to the 
personnel themselves, we would see tremendous benefits to the community.  We would see 
tremendous benefits to the personnel themselves.  Over the years, very few who have been 
through the RDF or, as it was previously, the FCA, ever ended up behind bars or anything like 
that.  One or two might have along the way but I can assure the committee that there were very 
few because we are a little community in ourselves.

In summary, we would see employment legislation, whatever shape that might take at any 
future date, as essential to reassure members of the Permanent Defence Force that they can call 
and rely on the RDF to do a job.  We would see that the reinstatement of the resource allocation 
would greatly enhance what we can do within that budget framework.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: I assume the transcript will be sent to the Minister for 
Defence anyway.  That is the standard practice.

I commend the RDFRA on the employer engagement working group.  I understand they will 
send on the handbook to us.  I look forward to getting that.

Chairman: The Deputy can do that through the clerk to the committee and we all will get 
a copy then.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: Absolutely.  I assume they will send it to spokespersons 
too.

The specialist Reserve issue is an understandable inclusion in the White Paper.  In fairness, 
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the RDFRA’s points, that it has a considerable range of expertise available, are understandable 
too.  I refer to those who have already signed up and committed to being Reserve Defence Force 
members.  On consultation with the RDFRA before these proposals come forward, what is the 
RDFRA’s sense of that?  Do they regularly meet the Minister for Defence?  Do they meet the 
Chief of Staff or the Secretary General of the Department of Defence on a regular basis to have 
their views heard?

Mr. Patrick Mulley: Indeed, we do.  We would absolutely endorse the present Minister’s 
position in that he is very accommodating with us.  We have fairly good access to him.

We also got a commitment from the Minister that the review period of the VFM, which is 
due to take place next year, be put further out.  We are looking forward to being brought in on 
those consultations as to the review of that because, initially, we were not brought in on the 
VFM in any significant way.

In the past few months, we were certainly consulted on the content of the White Paper.  Our 
views were taken on board.  They were expressed in the White Paper.  We would not be 100% 
satisfied with a lot of the wording of what transpired to be the White Paper because the word 
“review”, which is mentioned approximately 20 times, is undefined.  Once that is the case, suc-
ceeding Governments could have a different view and intent on the White Paper from that of 
the present Minister.  We would be fearful of that and that it would not be followed through to 
that extent.  We would certainly say that we, through the offices of Deputy Stanton here, and 
in bringing us in in the first instance, have definitely opened up channels with the Department, 
with the Chief of Staff and with others in the Department of Defence.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: I am delighted to hear it.  Deputy Stanton is passionate 
about it, and he is a champion of the RDF and the wider Defence Forces.  It has not always been 
the case through this five-year term and I am pleased it is the case now.  Regarding unemployed 
reservists, we support the concept of a defence contribution to employment support schemes for 
18 to 24 year olds.  The RDFRA is enthusiastic about it and it is a good idea.  What skills are 
likely to be developed and how could the programme work?  What is the RDFA’s vision for it?

Mr. Patrick Mulley: Unemployed RDF people could be engaged on the Department of So-
cial Protection’s Tús and JobBridge programmes, although many people are averse to it, given 
that the Defence Forces are already using JobBridge programmes in other areas.  A JobBridge 
internship programme could be very beneficial to a person who would be a productive member 
of the unit to which he or she was attached and would gain military skills under the umbrella 
of the RDF.  It would be a win-win situation.  It would be a stepping stone for the individual 
towards gaining employment.  One gains many skills in the military, other than marching, and 
they all add up on a CV.  From a community perspective, it would be ideal if people knew that 
if they joined the RDF they might be eligible to participate in such a programme, if the unem-
ployment rate keeps going the way it is.  It would be multi-beneficial and should be able to work 
within the Defence Forces.  While it would not bring everybody off the dole, people in the RDF 
who are unemployed should be afforded the opportunity.  We raised it with the Department 
before we came here last time.

Chairman: It is an interesting idea.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: I welcome the members of the RDFRA.  Mr. Richardson said 
there was a great interest in the RDF among the public.  Where is the evidence?  He said that 
while 300 joined last year, 200 left and therefore the net gain was 100 RDF members.  Where 
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is the evidence that there is significant interest among the public in the RDF?

Mr. Neil Richardson: The evidence is in the applicant numbers.  The numbers who apply to 
join the Reserve and who get through to the end and become recruits are often staggeringly dif-
ferent.  There may be thousands of applicants for an intake of 300.  It is not that the applicants 
are the “right people”, to use the Minister’s phrase, but that various elements of the recruit-
ment competition prohibit them from progressing further.  I mentioned an anecdotal example 
from Castlebar.  If one’s fitness test is arranged for a Wednesday and one is asked to go from 
Castlebar to Athlone barracks in the middle of a working day, chances are one will not be able 
to get time off to do it.  The Defence Forces are trying to arrange these, where possible, outside 
working hours and on weekends to accommodate these applicants.  Often, the fact that the re-
cruitment process is made somewhat difficult for people who have civilian jobs or education 
commitments that prevent them from attending the recruitment testing phases means the people 
who join the Reserve are those whose schedules happen to align with the testing.  Given the 
shocking difference between the thousands who apply for each recruitment competition and the 
200 or 300 who are taken in, we are missing many people.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: I have concerns about the age limit of 35 from the perspective 
of the RDF trying to recruit people.  I have a strong view that many people aged 25 or under 35 
are often very skilled, capable and mature.  Is the RDF not missing a vital asset by having this 
policy?

Mr. Neil Richardson: We maintain that the age cap should remain at 35.  I agree that there 
can be qualified professionals in their early 20s, and with extra time one can have people with 
ten, 15 or 20 years experience in a particular field.  The Civil Defence recruits up to the age of 
60.  While the argument could be made that at the age of 33 or 34 these people are starting to be 
past their physical best and should, therefore, not be taken into the RDF, it is down to their per-
sonal fitness.  We would be missing a trick by lowering the age profile from 35 to 25.  There are 
plenty of applicants to the RDF in the 25 to 35 year age bracket who have extra life experience 
and can bring more to the table than the person aged 18 to 20.  We want to get a mix of members 
in the Reserve, and this is what makes the force as strong as it is.  We are against lowering the 
age limit from 35 to 25, given that we would miss out on many highly skilled professionals by 
doing it, which would worry the RDFRA.

Chairman: What is the upper age limit of the PDF?

Mr. Neil Richardson: The upper age limit is 25.

Chairman: Are they aligning it with the PDF?

Mr. Neil Richardson: Precisely.

Chairman: Is it definitely going to happen?

Mr. Neil Richardson: No, it is a suggestion.  Given that the RDF does not have the same 
length of internal training as the PDF, our age limit needs to stay higher to allow people to gain 
training in the civilian world.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: We will have to agree to disagree on it.  There is one aspect of 
the RDF with which I am very impressed.  The proportion of women is 6% in the PDF, 16.3% 
in the RDF and 22% in the Naval Service.  There is a high interest among women in the RDF 
compared to the male population.  What is going on?



JOINT COMMITTEE ON JUSTICE, DEFENCE AND EqUALITY

25

Chairman: The specialist role of female personnel was mentioned, and Deputy Finian Mc-
Grath has homed in on the issue.

Mr. Eddie Mulligan: We were disappointed that the Minister, in recent public engage-
ments, talked about how disappointed he was that the percentage of women is so low in the PDF 
but did not mention that the RDF has been leading the way with such high figures.  In my unit in 
Waterford, we have 40% women.  There is major female integration throughout the RDF.  The 
White Paper quoted the request by the Secretary General of the United Nations that consider-
ation be given to the contribution of female soldiers to the United Nations operations.  This is 
an area in which women in the RDF can contribute to the PDF.  We have women in Waterford 
RDF who are qualified watch keepers.  We have three officers being commissioned at the end 
of the month, two of whom are marine watch keepers, a qualification which takes considerable 
study and experience to achieve.  One is a pilot on the River Thames and comes back and forth 
and lives in Waterford.  Another is a master mariner undergoing training to become a master of 
vessel.  We could have missed out on those commissions if our age limit had been lower.

We have women in the RDF who are counsellors, who have third level qualifications and 
who make major social contributions through a wide diversity of civilian jobs.  Their expertise 
would be very applicable to a woman-only unit going overseas, particularly in gender-sensitive 
peacekeeping roles.  It is a major way the RDF could contribute.  Women would be preferable 
in situations in which military or paramilitary forces may have been the perpetrators of violence 
against women.  Given that the women of the RDF are not full-time soldiers, they would gain 
much credibility serving with an overseas service.  This is commonly used in our sister organi-
sations.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: Are there gender quotas in the RDF?

Mr. Eddie Mulligan: No.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: Yet look at the record.

Senator  Tony Mulcahy: I welcome the deputation.  I declare an interest to the extent that 
my son was a member of the Reserve Defence Forces and thoroughly enjoyed the experience.  
I also know a number of members of the Reserve Defence Forces.

The witnesses referred to the restoration of pay to its previous level.  I am an advocate of re-
storing much of it.  Unfortunately, the economic climate in previous years did not lend itself to 
pay restoration.  However, if pay is to be rolled back to previous levels through the Haddington 
Road and Lansdowne Road agreements, this must be done across the board.  It is reasonable, 
therefore, for the Reserve Defence Forces to expect the same treatment as other public servants.  

We must communicate with the Minister, departmental officials and other decision makers 
that representation is an essential part of military management.  We require assurances that no 
unilateral decisions will be taken without proper consultation.  That is probably the key mes-
sage the joint committee must communicate.  

Given the representations the Reserve Defence Forces Representative Association, RDFRA, 
made at the previous meeting with the joint committee, which I was unable to attend, RDFRA 
appears to accept that it is getting traction and balanced consultation has taken place.  Is that the 
case?  Is the association being listened to?

Mr. Neil Richardson: We have regular forum meetings with the military authorities and our 
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views are certainly listened to.  In particular, we had great success with four meetings regard-
ing the Naval Service Reserve.  Today’s presentation is more about the White Paper because it 
includes more than 20 references to the word “review”, as Mr. Mulley noted.  While the military 
authorities are certainly listening to us and dealing with the concerns we raise, the issue is what 
shape the decisions outlined in the White Paper will take in the coming months and years.  We 
are seeking to nail this down and ensure we are involved in all the relevant decisions because 
we are best placed to help in that regard.

Senator  Tony Mulcahy: The RDFRA appears to be comfortable that the process is con-
tinuing.  In my view, that was not happening and could have been highlighted.

Chairman: Do the witnesses wish to elaborate on or speak about any other issues?

Mr. Neil Richardson: If I may, I will speak briefly about the specialist Reserve.  We are 
hoping to obtain assurances that the specialist Reserve will contain members of the Reserve 
Defence Forces.  While that may sound like a strange request, it should be noted that Ireland has 
the Permanent Defence Forces, which is referred to as the first line Reserve and consists of re-
tired members of the Permanent Defence Forces who are kept on the books in an administrative 
capacity, to be reactivated if necessary, as well as the Reserve Defence Forces or second line 
Reserve.  The White Paper states that the specialist Reserve will contain members of the first 
and second line Reserves.  We are hoping to ensure that the specialist Reserve is not comprised 
exclusively of members of the first line Reserve and that the Defence Forces will consider our 
members for inclusion in the specialist Reserve.

Chairman: I thank the witnesses for attending.  I am pleased to note that since our most re-
cent meeting, many changes have occurred and considerable debate and discussion have taken 
place between RDFRA, the military authorities, the Minister and departmental officials.  The 
use of the word “review” can be viewed as an opportunity to expand, grow, develop and use the 
various skills to which the witnesses alluded.  The joint committee will reflect on the informa-
tion presented to us and may submit something in writing to the Minister.  I wish the witnesses 
and the members of the association well in the work they do nationwide.  It struck me during 
our discussion on crime with representatives of Muintir na Tíre that the Reserve Defence Forces 
could assist Muintir na Tíre, even in a civilian capacity.  As with many organisations, Muintir 
na Tíre is having problems with recruitment and the age profile of its members is increasing.  
Obviously, we are not in favour of the Reserve Defence Forces assuming a military role but it 
could do something in a civilian role.

  Sitting suspended at 11.35 a.m. and resumed at 2.30 p.m.

General Scheme of Bail Bill 2015: Discussion

Chairman: We are in public session.  I ask everybody to turn off their mobile phones or put 
them on silent as they interfere with the sound system.  I will start with my own.

The purpose of this part of the meeting is to engage with some of those who made writ-
ten submissions to the committee on the general scheme of the bail Bill.  We are joined by Ms 
Deirdre Duffy, deputy director of the Irish Council for Civil Liberties and Ms Grace Mulvey, a 
research and policy officer with the Irish Council for Civil Liberties.  They are very welcome 
and I thank them for being here today.  I also thank Ms Deirdre Malone, executive director of 
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the Irish Penal Reform Trust.

I also welcome Ms Jane Mulcahy who is an independent research consultant and a member 
of the public rather than any organisation or group.  The format of the meeting is that I will ask 
each witness to make an opening statement, which I ask them to keep to about five minutes.  
We will then have a question and answer session with members to tease out their main points.

I draw the attention of witnesses to the fact that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defa-
mation Act 2009, you are protected by absolute privilege in respect of the evidence you are to 
give to the committee.  However, if you are directed by the committee to cease giving evidence 
on a particular matter and you continue to so do, you are entitled thereafter only to a qualified 
privilege in respect of your evidence.  You are directed that only evidence connected with the 
subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and you are asked to respect the parliamentary 
practice to the effect that, where possible, you should not criticise or make charges against any 
person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  

Members should also be aware that under salient rulings of the Chair they should not com-
ment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the House or an official either by 
name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

Ms Deirdre Duffy: I thank the Chairman and committee for inviting the Irish Council for 
Civil Liberties to speak with them today.  We are happy to be here to discuss the general scheme 
of the bail Bill, which concerns the State’s use of pre-trial detention.  That involves the holding 
of people in prisons before their guilt or innocence in regard to a particular offence has been 
determined.  This, as members will know, is the holding of people on remand. 

Members will also know that people who are charged with a crime are entitled to that most 
fundamental of rights enshrined in law throughout the centuries, that is, the presumption of in-
nocence.  Having said that, there are accepted reasons the State can restrict a person’s liberty in 
circumstances where he or she has been charged with an offence.  The O’Callaghan principles 
in section 2 of the Bail Act 1997 have, up to now, provided the main legal basis in Irish law 
regarding the provision of bail.  These reasons include the risk of flight, the seriousness of the 
offence, the likelihood of reoffending and likely interference with witnesses or jurors., among 
a number of other matters.  A delicate balancing act is employed by judges in determining 
whether to grant bail, and the seriousness of the decision in granting or refusing a bail applica-
tion must not be underestimated.  

Before I talk about specifics, I would like to highlight three key issues around the bail or re-
mand system in Ireland.  First, there is no maximum for remand duration in Ireland, unlike best 
practice in other European countries.  Second, in regard to people being held on remand in Irish 
prisons, the Irish High Court has criticised the conditions in Irish prisons in the Kinsella case in 
2011.  Third, the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture and Inhuman or Degrad-
ing Treatment or Punishment has recommended to Ireland, in the context of bail provision and 
remanding in custody, that it continue to pursue “vigorously multi-faceted policies designed to 
put an end to overcrowding in prisons”.  Under international human rights law, bail refusals 
should be exceptional and justified in the circumstances of specific cases.

The application of bail laws is protected so fervently under international human rights stan-
dards because taking away a person’s liberty before he or she has been convicted of a criminal 
offence can, as one can imagine, have serious and significant ramifications for a person’s right 
to privacy, family rights and right to a livelihood.  The consequences of remand will reverberate 
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throughout a person’s life and, most likely, stay with him or her forever.

International research shows that ethnic and religious minorities, foreigners, people suffer-
ing from mental illness and people with an intellectual disability tend to face a disproportionate 
risk of being held in pre-trial detention.  We are talking about the most vulnerable of the vulner-
able.

Let me give some specifics on the general scheme.  The possibility of a speedy trial is one 
of the key factors in the O’Callaghan principles.  Members will be aware that we struggle in 
Ireland in terms of the length of time one must wait for a trial.  In 2008, we were found to be 
in violation of the European Convention on Human Rights in the case of McFarlane v. Ireland.  
This has been omitted from head 26 of the Bill.  We strongly urge the committee to recommend 
that head 26 of the general scheme be amended to include all of the O’Callaghan principles, 
particularly with a view to considering the possibility of a speedy trial in determining the grant-
ing or refusal of bail.

The ICCL is a member of the Victims Rights Alliance.  We work to protect and secure the 
rights of crime victims in the criminal justice process in the State.  We welcome the efforts 
in head 26 to afford additional protections to victims and their family members by guarding 
against interference with witnesses.  However, we are concerned over the possibility, as set out 
in the general scheme, that a complainant, or alleged victim, may be able to give subjective 
information about the likelihood of interference by an alleged offender, or somebody who has 
not been convicted of anything.  Victims should have the right to participate effectively in a 
criminal process.  However, we suggest that the proffering of evidence as to the suitability of a 
person for bail, or not, should remain within the realm of the Garda.

Head 27 of the general scheme restates section 2 of the Bail Act 1997.  I refer to the refusal 
of bail to prevent the commission of a serious offence.  It includes a restatement of various 
factors that the court should take into account, such as the addiction of a person to a controlled 
drug.  Under the general scheme, this has been extended to include intoxicating liquor.  We urge 
the committee to ask the Minister to take steps to make progress on the use of alternatives to 
pre-trial detention, particularly where a person is an addict or suffers from another vulnerability, 
such as homelessness.  In addition, the establishment of bail supports and services in the com-
munity would be a more effective way to treat lower-level offending than excessive periods in 
pre-trial detention.  This has been proven in research, which I know my colleagues will talk 
about.  This is missing from the Minister’s proposals.  Evidence shows that alleged offending 
by vulnerable accused persons tends to face a disproportionate chance of pre-trial detention.

The trend across democratic countries is to explore alternatives to pre-trial detention, and 
not to increase it, for the very reasons I outlined at the beginning of my statement.  I wish to 
conclude by urging members to ask the Minister what she intends to do to have a concrete im-
pact on the integrity of the bail system.  It is welcome that various items of legislation are being 
codified in the general scheme but the additional factors therein do not address the key issues.  
This is a piecemeal approach.  The key issues concern how the excessive periods waiting for 
trial are being addressed and the Government’s alternatives to pre-trial detention given the cur-
rent state of the Irish prison system.  We have to operate in the reality of the system as it exists 
and how we wish it to be in the future.  Finally, what types of bail supports will the Minister put 
in place to assist repeat offenders, particularly those in more vulnerable categories?

Chairman: I thank Ms Duffy.
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Ms Deirdre Malone: The IPRT very much welcomes the invitation of the committee to 
address it on the general scheme of the Bill.  While the Bill is a largely welcome development, 
constituting a comprehensive restatement of the law on bail, it also provides an opportunity to 
revisit some aspects of the legislation that are problematic, in addition to flagging some con-
cerns, especially about omissions in the Bill.

In the interest of keeping to time, which I know is very limited, I will not repeat the submis-
sion of my colleague from the ICCL.  However, I can say without reservation that we endorse 
each of the recommendations she has made.  I refer members to our written submission, which 
we stand over.  It might be helpful to address the committee on the scale and impact of pre-trial 
detention and go into a little more detail on the case for bail supports and services.  I will ad-
dress electronic monitoring, which I believe has not been addressed elsewhere, and talk very 
briefly about mandatory sentencing, which finds a place within head 40 of the Bill.

There is no question but that pre-trial detention does have a place within the criminal jus-
tice system in ensuring that certain defendants will be brought to trial.  However, overuse of 
pre-trial detention and its impact on liberty and the presumption of innocence are really sig-
nificant.  Pre-trial detention is expensive.  When used excessively, it not only has an impact on 
individuals but also places a strain on prisons, which are already under strain, and diverts re-
sources away from those who are already serving a sentence and the rehabilitation of the latter.  
Exposure to prison itself is damaging and makes people more likely to reoffend, not less likely.  
An accused person who is remanded in custody may find it more difficult to prepare his or her 
defence adequately.  It is for all these very practical reasons, in addition to principled reasons, 
that the European Convention on Human Rights requires that pre-trial detention be used as a 
measure of last resort.

Given all the foregoing, it is really regrettable that the general scheme of the bail Bill does 
not include any statutory provision whatsoever for bail supports.  Bail supports and services 
include supervised bail.  I refer to mechanisms by which supports are made available for those 
placed on bail to ensure they turn up for appointments and for court and so some preliminary 
work can be done on any issues raised that relate to offending or alleged offending.  An example 
would be working with factors such as addiction, which in some cases can be a contributing and 
significant factor when it relates to offending.

We have laid out in some detail the research from other jurisdictions, such as England, 
Wales, Australia and Canada.  We have seen from it that the use of the supervised bail and 
other schemes has a number of outcomes.  It creates positive changes in behaviour over time, 
including a desire to avoid trouble or jail, learn to deal with conflict and refrain from drinking 
or taking drugs.  It results in court attendance of 80% to 90%.  That means increased court ef-
ficiency.  We know how overstretched our courts are at present.  Punctual attendance is crucial 
and everybody has an interest therein.  The schemes ensure this while managing risks in the 
community.  Obviously, the schemes reduce the number of remands to custody.  We should not 
leave out the fact that there are significant cost savings.  In Scotland, for example, which is a 
very comparable jurisdiction in regard to criminal justice, research shows that offsetting the 
cost of supervised bail against the reduction in prison costs from reduced use of remand over a 
three-year period resulted in a net benefit of between £2 million and £13 million.

We recommend that the Bill include an evidence-based approach to provision of bail ser-
vices and supports, obviously aimed at the prevention of offending on bail, ensuring appearance 
at court and reducing the number of remands to custody to the essential minimum.
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With regard to the draft heads, we endorse the recommendation in both the ICCL’s submis-
sion and our own on ensuring the period of remand remains at eight days and is not extended to 
15.  We encourage the introduction – in head 10, we suggest – of the no-real-prospect test.  This 
is a test that was proposed by the Prison Reform Trust in the United Kingdom.  Essentially, it 
means the addition of words such as, “or where there is no real prospect that the person who is 
making an application for bail will, even if convicted, be given a custodial sentence”.  In those 
circumstances, it makes no sense, economic or social, to remand the person to custody.  We very 
much welcome the requirement to give reasons for bail decisions.  Victims, criminal justice 
analysts and anybody working in the criminal justice system would welcome more account-
ability and transparency around all judicial decision-making.

It is really important to address the electronic monitoring issue in some detail.  This relates 
to heads 18 and 19.  There is legislative provision for electronic monitoring but it does not hap-
pen in practice and we very rarely see it being used.  Where it is a genuine and well-resourced 
alternative to remanding somebody to prison while awaiting trial, particularly given the length 
of time we are talking about currently where trials are being listed in 2017 and there is an ex-
tremely long period of pre-trial detention, and where we have examined how it might work 
in the Irish system, it would be welcome.  We know from research in the UK and the recently 
published recommendations of the Council of Europe that we cannot lump in electronic moni-
toring without considering a number of issues about the way it will work and how it will affect 
individuals.  Proportionate and necessary use of electronic monitoring would be welcome but 
must be considered extensively.

Head 40 provides for mandatory consecutive sentences for certain specified bail offences.  
I think I can say there is consensus in this regard.  The Law Reform Commission, the strategic 
review group on penal policy and my organisation have all come to the view that the impact of 
presumptive minimum mandatory sentences, prisoner numbers and questions as to the extent 
that those sentences have contributed to reducing crime are a concern.  The strategic review 
group recommended that no further mandatory sentences or presumptive minimum sentences 
should be introduced.  Going ahead with the bail Bill without looking at bail supports and 
services is akin to trying to solve a perceived illness without looking at the cheapest and most 
effective medicine.  It simply does not make sense.  I urge the committee to consider in more 
detail the research available and to examine the possibility of including a provision on that very 
socially and economically effective issue in the Bill.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: I thank the committee for the opportunity to draw attention to certain 
troubling aspects of the general scheme of the bail Bill 2015, which on the whole is to be wel-
comed for consolidating and restating existing law on bail matters.  I will focus on notable 
omissions in part 1 of the proposed Bill and a number of legislative innovations of dubious 
value and necessity which may drive up the prison population if enthusiastically embraced by 
the Judiciary.

I will start by making a point about the language surrounding the discussion of bail.  The 
language accompanying the unveiling of the Bill to new Garda graduates at Templemore in July 
2015 was reminiscent of that used in advance of the 16th Amendment to the Constitution, the 
bail amendment.  It was quite out of step with the recent progressive penal reform agenda pur-
sued by this Government.  One presumes this so-called crime control language was calculated 
to appeal to the law and order cohort of Fine Gael voters in the run-up to the election.  The Min-
ister for Justice and Equality, Deputy Frances Fitzgerald, stated that the Bill “will strengthen the 
law to protect the public against crimes committed by offenders out on bail”, while the Taoise-
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ach added that, “This is the first comprehensive review of bail law since 1997 and demonstrates 
this Government’s ongoing commitment to crack down on crime.”

The main goal of the proposed legislation is to restate and consolidate existing Irish law 
in accordance with the Constitution and the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human 
Rights, while giving judges “better guidance” as to how they might “protect the public” in 
certain key areas.  It is unfortunate that the Minister did not see fit to give the courts “better 
guidance” as to how they might also protect the rights of accused persons.  There is currently 
no explicit presumption in favour of granting pre-trial bail to an adult in Ireland, nor is the 
presumption of innocence explicit in the Constitution or any statute.  The European Court of 
Human Rights has stated that to justify the pre-trial detention of an accused person who is pre-
sumed innocent, there must be “a genuine requirement of public interest which, notwithstand-
ing the presumption of innocence, outweighs the rule of respect for individual liberty”.  That 
was in Kalashnikov v. Russia.  The court also held that states should consider less intrusive 
measures than detention and must prove that a less intrusive alternative to detention would not 
meet the objection or objections to release pending trial.  Under the European Convention on 
Human Rights, therefore, an accused should only be detained if one of the grounds in Article 
5(1) applies and a condition of bail cannot mitigate the risk in question.

In terms of reflecting the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights, the pro-
posed Bill should contain a clear statutory articulation in part 1, recognising the presumption of 
innocence and the presumption in favour of release on bail.  This would serve as an important 
reminder to judges and the prosecution when objecting to bail that people accused of criminal 
offences are innocent until proven guilty and should generally be released before trial, unless 
the evidence demonstrates that their remand in custody is necessary, proportionate and ground-
ed in law.  This means it should not be based on unlawful presumptions or vague, unsubstanti-
ated statements by the prosecuting garda.

A general provision should be inserted into the Bill to the effect that “in every bail applica-
tion, the court must consider whether a condition or conditions could be attached to bail which 
would be sufficient to meet the objection or objections raised under head 26 or 27 of this Bill”.  
An additional provision should explicitly require that judges only impose such conditions as are 
strictly necessary and proportionate to meet the identified risk or risks to ensure an individu-
alised approach is taken regarding the setting of conditions.

I will make a point on addiction to alcohol with respect to codifying section 2 of the Bail Act 
1997.  While addiction to controlled substances and alcohol certainly is a major factor in the 
offending behaviour of many people who come before the criminal courts, permitting judges to 
remand people with addiction issues in custody to prevent further offending on bail does little 
to address the complex underlying issues.  In this regard, the justice committee’s recent con-
sideration of Ireland’s failed war on drugs is timely.  Important lessons can be learned from the 
recent successes of the Portuguese decriminalisation strategy which has increased its focus on 
addiction as a public health issue rather than a social ill to be addressed primarily by recourse 
to the criminal courts.  In the context of a revised bail scheme and any new approach to drugs 
policy, holistic supports should be funded, including Probation Service supervised hostels pro-
viding access to mental health and addiction treatment and other necessary interventions in 
order that people can address underlying problems.

As noted by the Strategic Review of Penal Policy, Irish penal policy has suffered from 
a failure to plan adequately for the future and to understand the consequences of changes in 
policy.  The result has been an explosion in our prison population since the mid-1980s, with 
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no evidence or suggestion that society has become correspondingly safer.  It is highly likely 
that proposed stringent bail measures, such as those relating to domestic burglary and the so-
called guidance given to judges regarding head 27 and how they may protect the public more 
generally have been conceived without adequate or any assessment having been undertaken to 
examine their potential impact on the already overburdened prison system or of the pressure 
that additional remands in custody will place on the investigating gardaí as well as the Director 
of Public Prosecutions to get the case ready for trial.  As my colleague from the Irish Council 
for Civil Liberties stated, the legal right to a speedy trial is all the more important and pressing 
when the accused is in custody.  Anyone who has any experience of the criminal justice system 
will attest that trials are anything but speedy at present, especially in the Circuit Court, where it 
can take upwards of a year and a half due to busy court lists and other inefficiencies.  The situ-
ation will only worsen if substantially more people are remanded in pre-trial detention.

  Perhaps the key question for the Minister, her officials and all Members of the Oireachtas at 
this juncture is to consider whether it is prudent, responsible and conducive to a safer society to 
remand more people in pre-trial custody, primarily to incapacitate them, if it would necessitate 
the emergency temporary release of convicted offenders to free up beds.

Senator  Ivana Bacik: I thank the witnesses for their excellent and concise submissions.  I 
agree entirely with the tone, as they have all taken a very similar approach.  I share their wel-
come for this codifying Bill because we will see provisions relating to bail condensed in one 
place, which is very welcome.  However, I would also agree with Ms Duffy’s points about the 
need to ensure adequate protection of the rights of due process for accused persons.  This com-
mittee has contributed to the progressive agenda on penal reform, notably with our report on 
penal reform some years ago.  We recommended that imprisonment be a sanction of last resort.  
We also recommended various ways of enhancing these community sanctions.

Some of the witnesses spoke about the right to bail.  I welcome provisions 1 and 2 in head 
10 where there is a clear presumption in favour of granting bail.  It states that, “An applicant 
for bail shall be granted bail except where ... the court does not consider” and so on.  Is there a 
way any of the witnesses would suggest to strengthen that language?  I am conscious that we 
already have implicit, albeit not explicit, protection in the Constitution for the presumption of 
innocence.  We have clear protections for the right to liberty, so is there a need to say more?  Is 
that enough in head 10(2).

I have two specific questions for the Irish Penal Reform Trust, IPRT, and the Irish Council 
for Civil Liberties, ICCL, relating to some things that were said in the submissions.  The IPRT 
made a strong case for bail supports and services, including some instructive figures on posi-
tive outcomes from elsewhere.  Will Ms Malone elaborate a little more on the actual content of 
the sort of schemes she has talked about elsewhere, including the idea of supervised bail?  The 
closest we have to that is curfews and the obligation to sign on daily at a Garda station.  In a 
sense, if we have a tightly constructed set of conditions imposed on bail, it comes close to a sort 
of supervision, but what exactly does Ms Malone mean by “supervised bail”?  Does she think 
that electronic monitoring can be part of that?  In Denmark, we saw electronic monitoring used 
in a relatively progressive manner.

My other question is specifically for the ICCL.  It is about the provision in head 28 that the 
complainant would give evidence.  I agree with Ms Duffy that we need to look at that.  Clearly 
there is a victim’s rights element here too.  Does Ms Duffy have any ideas on reform?  Rather 
than ruling it out altogether, would there be merit in including provisions that are tighter, like 
the sort of victim impact statement we have after conviction, in order that there is a format for 
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this evidence to be given?  Head 29 refers to Garda evidence and currently gardaí give evidence 
about the impact on complainants.  Should we build that into the legislation?

I note that in the post-conviction stage, and part 6 that deals with bail applications on ap-
peal, there is provision for complainants to give evidence.  I do not think anyone can object to 
the complainant giving evidence in the bail hearing after conviction.  That seems to be entirely 
right.

Head 36 is about the power of the District Court to grant bail where a sentence is being ap-
pealed.  That could have a significant impact in practice because many sentences of imprison-
ment are appealed from the District Court and bail is fairly routinely provided for in those cases.  
We could see quite an increase of people being detained in custody who are not being currently.  
That is one practical impact that this legislation could have.

Ms Deirdre Malone: I will deal with the question about bail supports and services.  I have 
brought along a document on social research.  It is a Scottish Government document about the 
use of supervised bail in Scotland which sets out that scheme in some detail.  I am happy to 
leave that with the committee.

In short, concerning that scheme, the substantive difference is that it does not ask those on 
remand who perhaps had a chaotic lifestyle or an addiction simply to turn up at an office, sign 
something and go off again.  It was a set of meetings with a tone similar to a meeting with a 
probation officer.  If they were admitting the offence, and it may not be the case, they spoke 
about any issues within their lives that they felt had contributed to offending behaviour in this 
instance or that could contribute to further offending behaviour.  They could be things like 
employment, bereavement, counselling, addiction or mental health.  The idea was that it was 
a wrap-around service which dealt with people in their given situation at the time and ensured 
their time on remand was used in the best way possible to make certain they turned up for court.  
At the end of the day the justice system wants people to turn up for court in order that justice 
can be served, whether that results in an acquittal or a conviction.

The crucial thing was that they were looking not just at the symptoms and warehousing 
people until their cases came to court but also looking at what could be done in the interim, 
while respecting the presumption of innocence, to work with those people in their given situa-
tions to make the court system more effective.  Ultimately, it would save money for the taxpayer 
because that is what all those things added up to.  It is an attractive package because not only is 
it socially effective in dealing with the issue but also it addresses public concerns about people 
turning up and not offending when on bail.  This is one example of many and I am happy to 
share the rest of the research with the committee.  That was the qualitative difference between 
simply turning up to a police station and having an active engagement with something that was 
quite positive.

Ms Deirdre Duffy: I thank Senator Bacik for her questions.  Head 28 concerns the com-
plainant or the alleged victim giving information at the bail hearing.  This raises a number of 
issues.  First, we know there have been issues before the court around gardaí giving opinion 
evidence.  The Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission and other bodes have raised 
problems around that procedure.  It is important to note that a judge’s role is to infer from facts.  
In the ideal world, therefore, all that would be put before a judge would be facts, by which the 
judge would then come to a decision on whether bail would be granted.  It is complex and in 
certain situations opinion may be included.  As Senator Bacik mentioned, however, this should 
be limited very much, if it is included at all.
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I have serious concerns about the victims themselves because if they are going to give an 
opinion, does that mean they are open to cross-examination and a bail hearing around that opin-
ion or belief?  I do not necessarily know if we want a justice system where an alleged victim 
can be put in the box at a bail hearing and cross-examined about certain issues.  That is another 
matter.

By and large, the ICCL is of the opinion that only gardaí should proffer that type of evi-
dence.  Victims have other ways to interact with the criminal justice process where their rights 
can be protected.  I agree that if it were deemed that this would be necessary, if we could see 
circumstances where the wrong decision was being made by members of the Judiciary because 
they were not getting all the information and could only get the information from alleged vic-
tims, something could be included but it would need to be framed in much tighter language as 
a necessity.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: I want to add something to that point about complainant evidence.  It is 
already being delivered in High Court bail hearings.  Where there is a claim concerning poten-
tial witness intimidation, it is not uncommon for the victim to give evidence.  There is jurispru-
dence saying this is the preferred approach.  Where at all possible, rather than admitting hearsay 
evidence, it can be admitted but that is not the preference of the court.  If it can be demonstrated 
that the victim is fearful for their life, the courts will admit hearsay evidence in that case to bol-
ster the contention that further intimidation is likely under the O’Callaghan rules.

Senator Bacik asked about head 10 and the statement in subhead (2) that, “An applicant for 
bail shall be granted bail except where, having regard to the provisions of this Act, the court 
does not consider it to be a case in which bail should be allowed.”  In principle, there is nothing 
immediately wrong with the wording there except its place in the Act itself.  That is a general, 
overarching provision.  It should have a prime place in the general provisions in order that 
judges and the prosecution are under no illusion that bail should be the default position.  Un-
less the objections and the evidence supporting them are such that they support refusal of bail, 
then one does not necessarily need to phrase it in rights language, saying that the applicant has 
a right to bail but everyone should understand that bail is the default position.

Chairman: Does Ms Malone wish to comment?

Ms Deirdre Malone: In relation to head 10, Senator Ivana Bacik asked about strengthening 
it.  I suggest that at present it is framed in negative language.  It might be helpful to go back to 
the language used in the jurisprudence of the ECHR where it is clear that there is a presumption 
and a belief that the State bears the burden of proof in showing that a less intrusive alternative 
to detention would not serve the respective purpose.  It makes it very clear that unless a condi-
tion of bail could not mitigate the risk in question, it is only in those circumstances that it could 
remand.  It is important that there is a clear and positive statement - I agree with Ms Mulcahy 
on that - obviously setting out that conditions can be imposed but remand should only be the 
case where those conditions cannot mitigate any risk that is present.

Chairman: I call Deputy Mac Lochlainn.

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: Similar to Senator Ivana Bacik, I commend all the wit-
nesses on their presentations.  Even though I was late, I had the presentations with me to read.  I 
agree with some of the analysis that we can have a panic reaction sometimes to waves of crime 
but that does not make for good law and we need to be thoughtful.  Our committee has a strong 
track record in that regard, having compiled a report on penal reform.  We put a great deal of 



JOINT COMMITTEE ON JUSTICE, DEFENCE AND EqUALITY

35

work into its proposals, led by the chairman, and they have not been implemented but, hopeful-
ly, they will be implemented.  In that light I am concerned about the witnesses’ analysis because 
we have not addressed the penal reform deficits.  The challenge for legislators and Government 
is to strike a balance between the sole rights of the individual and the concerns about protect-
ing the public and, obviously, taking on board the victims’ rights.  For the benefit of the public 
listening, will the witnesses outline how they see that balance and their advice to legislators?

Chairman: Who wants to take that question?  I note Ms Malone is nodding.  I will come 
back to Ms Duffy afterwards.

Ms Deirdre Malone: The legal test and the basic rules already in place require judges to 
make these decisions every day.  They look at three things -  if there is a belief or a fear that the 
person will interfere with the witness, if there is a belief or a fear that the person will interfere 
with the course of justice, and if there is a risk of serious offending if the person is released on 
bail.  That is the starting point.  Judges are faced with that decision on a daily basis and have 
to weigh up all the information before them and make what is a very difficult decision.  There 
is no doubt and I do not think we would ever suggest that there is no place at all for pre-trial 
detention.  Clearly, it is a very important tool available to the criminal justice system in order to 
ensure that those who have been charged with a crime appear before the court, give evidence, 
are tried and, ultimately, there is an outcome.  The public has an interest in that regard.  What 
we have to remember is that within that two very important things happen.  First, there is iden-
tification of a risk, although it will not exist in every case, and if there is a risk how it can be 
addressed most effectively and, second, if there is a way in which we can ensure that the person 
returns to court, does not reoffend and engages with whatever he or she is supposed to engage 
with but is kept out of the prison environment.  The issue is if there is a way of doing that and, 
if so, we have a duty to consider it.  That means also protecting the public because remanding 
large numbers of people to prison does not make the problem go away.  What it does is fill our 
prisons with remand prisoners who are the most transient prisoners.  I checked the numbers 
today and six of our 14 prisons are overcrowded.

If the use of remand is increased without considering the impact that will have within our 
prisons, because what happens in our prisons affects what happens in our communities, we have 
to look at it in a joined-up way.  We would never advocate abolition of pre-trial detention but 
we do advocate asking ourselves if it is necessary, if it is proportionate, if there a risk and, if 
so, if it can be mitigated.  If not, it may be that pre-trial detention is the answer.  It is a difficult 
task that judges face every day.  Simplistic solutions such as making it mandatory to remand in 
certain circumstances are not the way.  We have gone beyond that kind of simplistic debate and 
I hope there is a more nuanced debate which looks at all the solutions to this problem, including 
bail supports services and supervised bail.

Chairman: Ms Duffy wants to contribute on that issue.

Ms Deirdre Duffy: We asked victims of crime what they want to see in the system.  They 
want the right to information, the right to privacy, the right to participate in the process and pro-
tection from harm.  There are many rights that they seek within the process.  We do not believe 
those rights need to exist independently of fair trial rights; they can co-exist.  In fact, there is not 
really a balance because every single participant within the criminal justice system should have 
respect for their particular rights.  As Ms Deirdre Malone from the Irish Penal Reform Trust has 
mentioned, we would not advocate that there is no such thing as pre-trial detention in Ireland.  
Of course, people need to be held on remand.  One of the main reasons they need to be held on 
remand is to protect witnesses and victims from further harm.  As already pointed out, the way 



36

GENERAL SCHEME OF BAIL BILL 2015: DISCUSSION

in which that is handled has to be set out in a framework that is in accordance with human rights 
principles.  Again, I refer to articles 5 and 6 of the ECHR which set out the proportions and the 
public interest arguments that should surround a bail system.  That is what we would advocate.  
Victims of crime speak about Garda resourcing, intelligence, feeling safe in their communities, 
and the right result coming out of a court case, not locking people up when they have not been 
proven to be guilty of any crime.

Chairman: I call Ms Jane Mulcahy.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: I wish to speak about domestic burglary because the Bill has passed 
Second Stage and it causes me some concern.  In his book The Culture of Control  David Gar-
land states that in recent years distinctive policies have been developed that aim to reduce fear 
levels rather than to reduce crime.  I suggest that the burglary Bill is symptomatic of such a 
policy.  It has been born out of the perception and the reality that burglary is a very intrusive 
crime that causes damage in individual’s lives.  In looking at the law, we have to see whether it 
will have the desired impact.  Will it mean that people in rural Ireland will sleep safer in their 
beds at night if we introduce such a law?  It is setting the definition of a prolific burglar at a very 
low level.  A person who has one conviction and two pending charges is setting the bar truly 
at a very low level.  If judges decide to adhere to this standard, it will, undoubtedly, have quite 
negative effects on our prison population.  It will mean that more people will be remanded in 
custody and this will have a knock-on effect of undoing much of the good work that has been 
done recently by the Irish Prison Service to stem the use of temporary release as an emergency 
measure, a safety valve.  If all manner of domestic burglars are being remanded in custody who 
otherwise, in previous times, would have been granted bail, there will be an impact.  I question 
whether the impact assessment has been carried out but, if not, it should be, because there is 
a need to be able to demonstrate that society will, in fact, be safer; if it is not, it is just talk.  It 
might appeal to voters at election time but really this is a serious issue that will have long-term 
consequences.

I reiterate the points about trying to deal with some of these problems at the front end by 
having some bail supports and ensuring that people turn up to trial.  Some people have such 
chaotic lives that they do not remember that they are meant to turn up when their case is listed 
for mention.  Wrap around supports can be of assistance.  If they have nowhere to live, remem-
bering to turn up to court is the least of their worries so anything that can be done to improve 
compliance with conditions should be done.  I also suggest that there is a tendency to have an 
over-use of too many conditions.  Particularly for people at the lower end of the spectrum, we 
need an individualised approach.

Chairman: Does Deputy Mac Lochlainn wish to respond?

Deputy  Pádraig Mac Lochlainn: Representatives from Muintir na Tíre appeared before 
this committee today.  I am sure the witnesses are familiar with that organisation and its ex-
cellent work on the community alert and text alert schemes in rural areas and its initiatives in 
partnership with An Garda Síochána.

Muintir na Tíre welcomed the Criminal Justice (Burglary of Dwellings) Bill 2015.  There 
are considerable sections within rural communities, and urban communities, which hold the 
view that if a person has one conviction and two charges pending then that is a significant 
threshold within which to suspect that person is a threat to the public and for him or her to be 
detained.  I wonder if the role of electronic tagging could strike a balance between the analysis 
of the witnesses and that of the community leaders on recidivist offenders.  I agree that a ratio-
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nal, evidence-based approach is needed when looking at penal reform but the public also needs 
reassurance that the State is serious in its efforts to tackle criminals.  Confidence in the criminal 
justice system is undermined when statistics can show the number of times people commit of-
fences while on bail.  Reference was made to a number of other options, particularly from the 
Irish Penal Reform Trust.  Could the witnesses clarify what options are available other than 
incarceration without conviction?

Ms Deirdre Malone: I believe it is crucial for An Garda Síochána to have sufficient staff 
numbers within the community, time and resources to monitor the bail conditions which are 
imposed currently.  This is not happening at the moment because the Garda does not have any 
of those supports.  I spoke with a local community in Athy about this.  The first concern of the 
community was not about the bail laws but the fact that the local Garda station had been deci-
mated and gardaí could no longer be seen on the beat.  The community was also aware, and 
we know this from our own research, that where conditions are imposed that they may not be 
monitored.  It is important that the Garda has the resources with which to monitor bail condi-
tions, but those resources were slashed in the past.  That situation seems to be turning around 
now, which is positive.  Electronic tagging can be useful in appropriate cases.  For example, 
if the purpose of an electronic tag is to provide an alternative to remanding a person or to 
ensure the person resides in a particular place or does not enter a particular place or is under 
curfew at certain time, these are less intrusive measures than losing one’s liberty pending trial.  
While they are nonetheless an interference with a person’s liberty, they may be necessary and 
proportionate in certain cases.  This is why, when we saw the inclusion of electronic tagging, 
we stated in our submission that we always welcome alternatives to imprisonment as long as 
they are considered deeply, and that tagging may be an effective alternative to imprisonment.  
However, international research shows that the contributory causes of crime in a substantial 
number of cases such as shoplifting and burglary can often be symptomatic of a need or desire 
to feed an addiction, and this is reflected in the problems we see in our prison population.  This 
cannot be ignored.  There is almost a consensus among speakers at this committee on the need 
to decriminalise drug use and the need to look at addiction as a health issue rather than a crimi-
nal justice issue.  This should never be considered as an excuse to allow people to enter other 
people’s homes, but we have to deal with the cause of these events and not simply warehouse 
the symptoms of the events.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: I wish to comment with regard to burglary.  In one of the recent press 
releases from the Minister, she said that 75% of all burglaries were committed by 25% of of-
fenders.  Tied on to this information was the argument about the roaming gangs and the highly 
organised criminal gangs.  If better statistics were available in the State we might be able to 
unpack this data a little bit to see that in fact most burglaries are probably committed by people 
who have serious addictions, but I do not know what the precise percentage is.  A more com-
plete look at the underlying causes of crime is needed.  One can remove people from circulation 
and incapacitate them, but it is deeply worrying to do this before trial when they are legally 
innocent.  I cannot stress this enough.  These people have not been convicted.  It is one thing 
to talk about incapacitation if the people have already been convicted, but it is another thing if 
they have not been convicted.

I will now turn to the issue of bringing people to trial sooner.  We see that the Garda will 
receive an extra €5 million to allow them to respond better to crime in rural areas, but will 
more money be made available to the courts to enable the court lists to speed up? These are all 
related issues.  If a young person, for example, is on eight or ten conditions for over a year, the 
chance of non-compliance increases because that is a restriction of his or her liberty for a very 
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long period.  If a person is held in pre-trial detention, the impact on the person is much greater.  
That time cannot be given back.  There is an omission in this Bill on the judicial convention of 
backdating of sentences.  Where that has a statutory focus, then it should be in the Bill.  Maxi-
mum time limits for remand should also be looked at.  Welcome as it is, there are so many actual 
omissions in this Bill that it really needs a rethink to plug some of the gaps.

Chairman: That is what this committee is doing today.  I call on Deputy Finian McGrath.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: I have just one question on the broader topic of bail and the 
rights of victims and broader society.  My beef about the bail problem is when violent people 
with a history of violent crime are out on bail.  This is a huge issue for me personally and of 
massive concern among the public.  We do not get it.  How do the witnesses respond to that?

Chairman: Have the witnesses their own statistics on the number of crimes committed by 
people who are bail? Can they throw any light on that?

Ms Deirdre Duffy: In regard to serious offenders, there is provision in current Irish law 
whereby serious offenders can be denied bail.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: Can be.

Ms Deirdre Duffy: Can be, yes.  I would like to connect the Deputy’s question to the previ-
ous question.  There is an existing framework around the determination of bail.  In this scrutiny 
of the general scheme of the Bill we are looking at codification.  There are some things which 
have changed but there are not huge, substantive changes.  I am not referring to the Criminal 
Justice (Burglary of Dwellings) Bill 2015.  This is only attaching a sticking plaster to the system 
of bail.  We actually need to look at other issues.  A  judge can refuse bail to serious offenders; 
the seriousness of the offence is one of the conditions.  We need an evidence base of statistics, 
as already referenced by the Chairman - maybe my colleagues have those statistics - with regard 
to why people are being granted bail and why they are being refused bail.  One of the positives 
about this Bill is that in most instances there will have to be written decisions on the adjudica-
tion of bail.  I do not know if I am making the point absolutely clear.  The Bill is about codifying 
existing provisions, and what I am trying to say is that this will not solve the big problems be-
cause it does not deal with the root causes.  We are not looking at what has and has not worked 
- largely, what has not worked.  We know things are not working because our remand centres 
are full, our prisons are overcrowded and, as previous speakers noted, we still have members of 
the community who do not feel safe. 

To repeat what my colleagues said, we need to take a holistic, in-the-round view and con-
nect this type of bail application to the investigation that preceded it, namely, what the Garda is 
doing and how the courts system is operating.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: On the issue of dangerousness, what should be happening in a bail ap-
plication is that the prosecuting or investigating garda gives evidence from the PULSE system 
of any previous convictions or charges against the individual in question and a judge deter-
mines, on the basis of the evidence provided and possibly some engagement with the accused, 
whether there is a threat in cases in which the issue is one of dangerousness.  If the person 
has a history of violent offending, that will be at the forefront of the judge’s mind in making 
a decision, particularly in a section 2 bail objection, which relates to the likelihood of further 
offending.  If there is a risk based on prior conduct of serious violent offending, the judges will 
very much take that into account.  On the other hand, under the current law, the seriousness of 
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an offence in and of itself is not a ground for refusing bail.  For this reason, one will see people 
who are charged with murder being granted bail because it cannot be established on the evi-
dence that there is a likelihood that the person will commit a similar type of act again.  If the 
person has a very clean record, the risk may be low or may be met by setting conditions such 
as requiring a surety or the surrender of a passport.  Whatever the risk that is identified, it must 
be grounded in evidence.

The job of the garda in any bail application is to bring to the court the relevant evidence.  
A court cannot possibly predict all types of behaviour.  Many people will not have committed 
violent acts and one cannot hold everyone in pre-trial detention on the basis that he or she may, 
at some point down the road, do something that is out of character.  That is the simple fact of 
the matter.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: I accept and do not disagree with the point that the court’s deci-
sion must always be grounded in evidence.  My beef - and I represent the view of members of 
the public - is with the inconsistency that is sometimes evident in bail decisions.  I will not iden-
tify particular cases but I have experience of cases in which non-violent persons were refused 
bail while extremely violent persons with bad records were granted bail.  In such circumstances, 
people ask me what is going on in the justice system.  My point, therefore, is the inconsistency 
in some of the decisions on bail.  I understand that judges must make difficult decisions and 
people are human and will get things wrong.  For example, someone who is perceived as not 
being violent may suddenly become violent.  Those are facts of life.  However, inconsistency is 
a regular feature of decisions on bail.  Although I am a strong believer in civil liberties, mem-
bers of the public also have rights and they frequently believe that victims have been ignored.

Ms Deirdre Malone: On the Deputy’s final point, the Bill includes a welcome requirement 
that judges give written reasons for their decisions in bail applications.  We wholeheartedly 
welcome that provision.  As I recall - I do not have a copy of the heads in front of me - this will 
be done at the request of the prosecution or defence.  It should be done as a matter of course.  I 
cannot find any reason for not introducing a simple requirement that judges give written reasons 
for bail decisions in every case.  Simply having a requirement to give a reason for a decision 
is an improving factor for everyone, regardless of the type of decision.  It can only be of as-
sistance to require reasons to be committed to paper in a clear and open manner.  It should not 
be done solely at the request of the defence or prosecution.  Victims, prosecutors, lawyers and 
everybody else will have an interest in understanding the reasons a decision was made in any 
given case.

The other point I would make regarding decision making in courts is that questions about 
consistency will always arise and the answer is to have transparency.  Members of the public 
always welcome knowledge.  Unfortunately, however, our perception of how the criminal jus-
tice system works is mainly derived from the media, and news values are not the same as justice 
values.

Chairman: I agree.

Ms Deirdre Malone: The most serious offences are given most news coverage because 
they are the most interesting to the public.  As a result, we all suffer from the perception that 
serious crime is increasing.  Has anyone read a news story about the 40% decline in homicides 
recorded so far this year?  I certainly have not read any such report.  We are all getting our in-
formation from the media, which have very different values from those of data- and evidence-
based criminal justice policy.  That is what we should be interested in.
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Ms Deirdre Duffy: I should clarify in response to Ms Mulcahy’s contribution that serious 
crime is not of itself the reason a person would be denied bail.  As we indicated, it is the totality 
of circumstances by which the judge makes a decision.  I echo Ms Malone’s comments that it 
is really about knowing the reasons bail is being refused or granted.

Deputy Finian McGrath raised some important points about the criminal justice system as 
a whole, particularly in terms of sentencing.  We do not always know the reasons judges make 
decisions around sentencing and we do not have an integrated sentencing system or guidelines 
and principles for sentencing in this country.  This is very frustrating for people involved in the 
process and members of the public who, as Ms Malone noted, largely pick up their information 
through the media.  Having said that, we obviously do not want to interfere with the indepen-
dence of the Judiciary.  However, transparency, accountability and knowing the reasons judges 
make their decisions are key to this.

Deputy  Finian McGrath: While I am very much in accord with the sentiments the wit-
nesses have expressed, the bottom line, as far as I am concerned, is the issue of inconsistency.  
A young garda is dead, a woman is fighting for her life in Beaumont Hospital and a number of 
children are suffering as a result of the actions of a guy who was out in bail.  I am sorry, but I 
do not get it.

Chairman: Does Deputy Farrell wish to contribute?

Deputy  Alan Farrell: I do not disagree with Deputy McGrath.  It is interesting for observ-
ers such as myself to read about inconsistencies in the application of bail laws and in sentenc-
ing.  I do not necessarily mean that I read about these cases in the tabloid newspapers.

It is incumbent on us to ensure the Bill is given a thorough hearing.  Bail laws must strike a 
delicate balance between the rights of the citizenry and the civil rights of individuals who have 
committed crimes in terms of whether they are incarcerated or have to make good for their 
crime in some other form.  In many cases, I do not have any difficulty with electronic tagging.  
This procedure should be funded to a much greater extent than at present, not only to free up 
space in the prisons.  In that regard, I thank Ms Malone for pointing out that six of the 14 prisons 
in the State were overcrowded either last week or this week.  Such statistics are not often placed 
in the public domain.

I represent north Dublin, and we all know that several years ago the State paid the Thornton 
Hall landowner €30 million for a farm worth €300,000.  The State, via the Prison Service, has 
invested a substantial amount in that project, with no results.  Significant investment is required 
in the prisons, including at least one prison in Dublin, to bring them up to a reasonable standard.  
This is clear from the level of overcrowding in the prisons.  While tagging and better applica-
tion of the bail laws will remove people from prisons and more gardaí will deter people from 
committing crimes and, I hope, reduce the overall number of individuals incarcerated in the 
prison system, at the same time, it is clear that we need at least one and possibly even two new 
prisons.  I will leave it to the experts to make a determination on that issue.  

Society has moved away from the “eye for an eye” view of crime, whereby a person who 
commits a crime should be locked up and the key possibly thrown away, depending on the 
severity of the crime.  We need to employ more innovative approaches and international best 
practice in terms of rehabilitating individuals within our prison service.  That means treating 
them with dignity, giving them an outlet and ensuring, for example, that prisons are completely 
free from drugs.  Let us suppose a person is addicted to drugs when going into the care of the 



JOINT COMMITTEE ON JUSTICE, DEFENCE AND EqUALITY

41

Prison Service.  We have read of cases over the years - I imagine the deputations have come 
across them too - of individuals who go into prison clean but come out addicted to drugs.  In a 
societal sense, that is horrific.  The State is effectively sponsoring that by locking them behind 
a wall and allowing such things to occur.  I am firm in my view that we should have a zero-
drugs policy in prisons.  People should go in and come out clean.  I do not care what the cost 
is in terms of the human cost or the addictive step-down that occurs.  That is the nature of the 
incarceration as far as I am concerned.

I wanted to touch on some other things with regard to comments made by the deputation.  I 
was rather confused by something Ms Malone mentioned.  She referred to the lack of gardaí or 
the reduction in the number of gardaí in the context of a bail discussion.  Why was that men-
tioned?  Ms Malone can reply in a moment.  I wish to ask some more questions and then the 
Chairman can wrap up.

Ms Mulcahy made a statement to the effect that there is not much empirical data on figures 
that are in the public domain relating to those who are committing burglaries.  The Minister has 
made statements with regard to certain percentages on the matter.  Anyway, Ms Mulcahy used 
the word “fact” and continued to the effect that most burglaries are carried out by those who 
suffer from addiction but yet she did not know.  I do not believe it is possible to make a state-
ment like that and use the word “fact” in the context of an Oireachtas hearing.  It is essential, 
as Deputy Finian McGrath adequately outlined and as far as I am concerned, that the inconsis-
tencies in the application of bail laws are addressed.  Ms Malone - or perhaps Ms Duffy - was 
right to say that we do not read about the reduction in certain crime categories and that we only 
read about the salacious material that sells newspapers - let us be honest about it - or, in certain 
instances, the horrific crimes, such as the murder of an on-duty garda and such things.  As a 
member of the Joint Committee on Justice, Defence and Equality, my view is that availability 
of training to members of the Judiciary is required in terms of the implementation of bail laws.  
I agree wholeheartedly with Ms Malone about the publication of decisions in writing.  It should 
be an essential component of a functioning judicial service.  There should be no question over 
whether it should be requested.  It should be automatic.  Ms Malone has my full support on that 
point.

I had another point that I was going to raise.

Chairman: Does someone want to pick up on those points?  I will come back to the Deputy 
if necessary.  Ms Malone is nodding.

Ms Deirdre Malone: There was a question about the relevance of Garda resources and 
time.  These are relevant in two respects.  First, the presence of gardaí in the local community 
has been shown to have a preventative effect on crime.  People feel safer and there is more of 
a sense the gardaí are present, aware and know what is going on in a given community.  Com-
munity policing has always been a crucial part of any criminal justice system.  The idea of the 
officer on the beat who everyone knows is important in an everyday sense.

It is also important in respect of monitoring bail conditions.  My colleague will correct me if 
I am wrong, but, as I understand it, if a garda requests certain conditions, such as, for example, 
signing on in a police station, then that garda or her station is then tasked with monitoring the 
fact that a given person continues to sign on.  That was the point I was making in respect of 
gardaí.

There was a comment about an extra prison.  Thornton Hall was debated at length over num-



42

GENERAL SCHEME OF BAIL BILL 2015: DISCUSSION

ber of months.  Many research reports were produced and considerable debate on the question 
took place.  The conclusion was that penal expansion does not assist communities in reducing 
crime.  If that were the case, then crime rates in the United States, where there is mass incarcera-
tion, would be exemplary.  We know that is not the case.  In fact, it is far from it.

Deputy  Alan Farrell: To be fair, I was actually referring to the humane treatment of pris-
oners in that context rather than as a deterrent to crime.  I was actually talking about their human 
rights.

Ms Deirdre Malone: Then it was my misunderstanding.

The third point related to sentencing.  I agree entirely with my colleague.  When the public 
is getting information about particular sentences it is really the most lenient and the heaviest 
sentences which are reported.  We know about an interesting project in the United Kingdom.  
Judges took the decision to publish all the facts of particular crimes for the public.  Then they 
asked the public what sentences the public believed would be appropriate in given cases in the 
light of the public knowing all the facts of the cases.  The overwhelming response was that the 
public agreed with the sentences in question or would have opted for more lenient sentences.  It 
would be very interesting to do something similar in this country.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: I thank Deputy Farrell for drawing my attention to my careless lan-
guage.  It was harsh of me given that I am urging politicians to be careful about their language.  
I suppose what I meant is that I highly recommend that people spend some time at High Court 
bail list hearings to get a perspective on burglary.  People would then see that on any given day 
most of the people being accused of burglary have addiction issues.  One might come across 
an armed gang member from a highly mobile group.  However, such examples capture media 
attention and hence political attention.  That was really what I was trying to draw attention to.  
Unfortunately, because of the way we record statistics in this country, it is very difficult to get to 
the root of it and the accurate statistics.  That is something for another day.  Certainly, it would 
be better if we had more accurate statistics in this regard.  For example, if we knew what per-
centage of accused people go on to receive a custodial sentence, it would be helpful.  It would 
also be useful to know what percentage of people remanded in custody do not get convicted at 
all.  They may have spent six, seven or eight months in pre-trial detention, with no compensa-
tion offered to them.  That is six or seven months that they cannot get back.

Reference was made to inconsistencies in bail decisions.  Obviously, it is of great concern 
to all of us when judges seem to get it wrong and release someone on bail.  However, I reiterate 
that they are dependent on the information that is presented to them from the PULSE system 
and the Garda.  The cannot predict all manner of human behaviour.  When allegations of violent 
behaviour are put before them, there is not a judge in the country who will not take that seri-
ously.  They are quite risk averse and they know the way the media headlines will go if they get 
it wrong.  On the other hand, there is considerable inconsistency at the lower end of the scale.  
We have seen women remanded in custody for failing to appear.  They may have chaotic lives 
or they may have gone to see a child in care but a judge might throw the book at them and re-
mand them in custody for a week.  Is that an appropriate use of remand?  These are major issues.

Ms Deirdre Duffy: Reference was made to the Garda and resources.  I can confirm what Ms 
Malone said.  The Garda is responsible for monitoring the conditions of bail.  For example, if 
there is a condition that a person does not go near a certain house because he has been accused 
of a domestic violence incident, it will be the garda on the beat and at the local station who will 
monitor whether that is taking place.  In this Bill, and under current law, members of the Garda 
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can, of course, arrest someone if they believe the person is about to breach a condition of bail.  
That is a very important power for the Garda.

Chairman: Am I correct in stating that Ms Duffy agrees with arrest without warrant for 
someone who breaches bail conditions?

Ms Deirdre Duffy: The Garda obviously needs to arrest a person if a bail condition is about 
to be breached in order to prevent a risk of serious reoffending or whatever it might be.  Clearly, 
members of the Garda would need to have reasonable cause and evidence that something was 
about to be breached and it would need to be at a high threshold.

Deputy  Alan Farrell: I agree.  Ultimately, if someone is in breach of a court order, the 
Garda can arrest the person but clearly there must be evidence.  That goes without saying.  Ref-
erence was made to investment within the justice system.  It is very clear that having a fit for 
purpose computer system for An Garda Síochána is a clear imperative for presenting informa-
tion in a courtroom.  I have seen PULSE and it is archaic, old-fashioned, horrifically out of date 
and difficult to use.  I have been given a couple of examples of it while visiting stations in my 
capacity as a Member of the Oireachtas.  Modernising this system is an essential component 
of any functioning justice system.  Much money has been put into it and €40 million has been 
identified as a required investment.  Knowing how computer systems are developed, it will 
cost more to implement it nationally, but it will be money well spent, particularly if we have 
terminals in courtrooms where a member of An Garda Síochána can simply pull up information 
if required to do so.

One of the witnesses made a point on investment in the Judiciary.  Not only do we have new 
courts, but yesterday six new judges were appointed.  There is no question that addressing the 
deficiencies in the overall system is a priority now that we can afford to do so in a meaningful 
way.  I certainly welcome the input of the Irish Council for Civil Liberties and I have read its 
report.  I ask the witnesses to forgive me for missing their oral submissions, but I was Acting 
Chairman of the Dáil at the time.  It is an interesting subject matter and I appreciate their con-
tributions.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: I will make a small point on monitoring bail conditions.  As I under-
stand it, the prosecuting garda, or the garda who objects to bail in court, might ask for a plethora 
of bail conditions but there is a lack of clarity as to whether the individual member is then re-
sponsible for monitoring compliance.  This is a factor, because if he or she is not, then who is?  
Certain conditions are easier than others to monitor, such as conditions to report and sign on at a 
Garda station, as it is easy enough to see whether someone is doing this.  Monitoring the curfew 
condition is often used in the context of burglary, which is deemed to be night-time offending.  
If there is a lack of clarity as to who is monitoring these conditions, they may not be monitored 
at all.  At the same time, they are there for the asking.

The point on funding the Judiciary was quite specific on funding additional courts for trials 
in the Circuit Court or ensuring the existing courts are open for business all day, because some 
of them are not.  It is about using existing resources to the maximum to be as efficient as pos-
sible.

Chairman: Do we know how many people are generally held on remand at any one time?

Ms Deirdre Malone: On average, it is 15%, which translates to between 500 and 600 
people.
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Chairman: They are on remand?

Ms Deirdre Malone: Yes.  This is from a population of 3,700 people.

Chairman: Are they actually incarcerated in a prison?

Ms Deirdre Malone: Yes.

Chairman: How many people are on bail at any one time?

Ms Deirdre Malone: I do not think I have these figures but I can certainly find out for the 
committee.

Ms Jane Mulcahy: Most people get station bail from the Garda.  This is a statistic, but we 
do not know the percentage.  We do know a majority gets it from the Garda.

Ms Deirdre Malone: The fact we cannot answer these very simple questions underlines 
yet again that the lack of data on criminal justice and the consequent inability to discuss these 
issues with any clarity or agreement on data will always be an obstacle in any criminal justice 
debate.  We urge the committee to consider a debate on this issue.

Chairman: We made a recommendation to have a criminal justice inspectorate, as exists in 
Northern Ireland, to range across the entire criminal justice area and report on it.

I thank the witnesses for their submissions, interacting with the committee and being here.  
With their permission, we will send the transcript and submissions to the Department, perhaps 
along with some comments.  Tomorrow at 9.45 a.m. we will launch our report on drugs.  In the 
past we have reviewed penal reform and the community courts.  The committee has done much 
work in these areas.

At the end of the day, there is a major groundswell of fear of crime in the community.  This 
morning, we had a debate with Muintir na Tíre.  People speak about going to bed with firearms.  
Public meetings are being held and people are genuinely afraid because of what they have seen 
reported.  This must be addressed in myriad ways.  This morning, Muintir na Tíre made a very 
good presentation on how to do this in a positive way.

The joint committee adjourned at 3.55 p.m. until 2 p.m. on Wednesday, 11 November 2015.


